UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

The effect of Gadd45α on DNA-bound PCNA in response to UVB.

by

Julie-Ann Doreen Babiuk

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

Medical Sciences - Laboratory Medicine and Pathology

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22225-6 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22225-6

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY RELEASE FORM

Name of Author: Julie-Ann Doreen Babiuk

Title of Thesis: The effect of Gadd45 α on DNA-bound PCNA in response to UVB.

Degree: Master of Science

Year this Degree Granted: 2006

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Julie-Ann Doreen Babiuk

Date: _____

ABSTRACT

Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) is involved in many cellular processes, but is most clearly defined in DNA replication. Growth arrest and DNA-damage inducible protein 45 alpha (Gadd45 α) also has many cellular functions. Gadd45 α 's role in nucleotide excision repair (NER), while unclear, has been attributed to interaction with PCNA. To further elucidate the role of this interaction we analysed rapidly DNA-bound PCNA in *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+}* (wild type) and *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* (knock out) MEFs after UVB. To do so, I developed a novel method for assessing DNA-bound proteins in intact MEFs by flow cytometry. Results were confirmed by immunofluorescent microscopy and immunoblotting. By all methods, there was no early PCNA response in the absence of Gadd45 α , while in wild type cells, an increase of DNA-bound PCNA seen at 1h, begins to drop by 4 hours. Our data suggest that Gadd45 α is a strong regulator of the early PCNA NER response.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I could not have done this without a lot of support and encouragement. First of all, I thank my supervisor, Dr. Victor Tron. Even though he is very busy with his many commitments, he has always found time to listen to my ideas and to encourage me. He was an invaluable source of ideas and support throughout my degree.

I would also like to thank Dr. Susan Andrew. Not only was she on my committee, as a close collaborator, she made room for me in her busy lab and provided me with support and encouragement to me from the beginning. As a female mentor she has been a wonderful example on how you can balance science and family successfully.

Pauline Kotowich, Dr. Tron's secretary also deserves a great deal of thanks. She arranged all of my committee meetings and assisted with A.V. setup when necessary. She found time to help me when she when she was already doing a million and one things for the Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, and was always a source of smiles and laughter.

I would like to thank everyone in the Andrew and Tron labs; Dr. Leah Young who pre-read my thesis and was a constant source scientific help, Dr. Marcia Campbell who was a wonderful resource for my microscopy, Kelly and Katie who "struggled" through 8:00 a.m. classes at the Cross Cancer Institute in -25° C weather with me. Weekly lab meetings with the two groups were an invaluable tool to troubleshoot and brainstorm, and the support when things were not going well and projects kept changing helped to keep me on track.

Lastly I thank my family. My parents, in-laws, nieces and nephews who pestered me continually, asking "When are you done?". And of course my husband, Barry, who kept me grounded and focused even when things were not going well. I am happy to be finished, and I know I could not have done it without you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 Literature Review1
Ultraviolet Radiation1
Sources and effects of UV radiation1
UV Radiation and Skin Cancer4
DNA Damage Response10
Cellular Responses to DNA Damage10
DNA Repair13
Nucleotide Excision Repair14
PCNA20
PCNA and Repair24
Gadd45α27
Molecular Regulation of Gadd45 $lpha$ 27
Gadd45 $lpha$ and Cancer
Gadd45 $lpha$ mice
Multiple Roles of Gadd45 $lpha$
Gadd45 $lpha$ and NER43
Summary and Goals45
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods47
Gadd45α Mouse Colony47
Creation of MEFs48
Cell culture49
Immunofluorescence Methods (Confocal Microscopy and Flow Cytometry)

DNA-bound Western Blotting5	50
UVB irradiation5	50
Immunofluorescent Microscopy5	52
Method Development: Flow Cytometry5	53
Flow cytometry5	55
Cell lysis / Quantification5	57
SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis / Western blots5	58
Statistics5	59
Chapter 3 ♦ Gadd45α and DNA-bound PCNA: Immunofluorescent Analysis6	30
Introduction6	30
Immunofluorescent Microscopy Results6	30
Flow Cytometry Results6	34
Work-up of Flow Cytometry Method6	34
Flow Cytometry Results7	70
Conclusions7	'3
Chapter 4 ♦ Gadd45α and DNA-bound PCNA and p21: Western Blot Analysis	'5
Introduction7	'5
Results7	7
Conclusions7	'9
Chapter 5 Discussion and Future Directions	30

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1	: Experimental Design	51
Table 3-1	: Flow cytometry analysis of PCNA	65

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Ultraviolet light spectrum
Figure 1-2: Ultraviolet light atmospheric penetration3
Figure 1-3: Chemical formation of UV-induced DNA photoproducts5
Figure 1-4: Development of Human Squamous Cell Carcinoma9
Figure 1-5: Histology of NMSC10
Figure 1-6: DNA damage response12
Figure 1-7: Nucleotide Excision Repair Pathways19
Figure 1-8: Crystal structure of human PCNA22
Figure 1-9: JNK and p38 MAPK Pathways30
Figure 1-10: NF-κB Pathway34
Figure 2-1: Genotyping gel
Figure 3-1: Examples of IFM images62
Figure 3-2: Graph of DNA-bound PCNA in <i>Gadd45α</i> wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage assayed by Immunofluorescent Microscopy (IFM)63
Figure 3-3: NP-40 treatment of MEFs for PCNA IFM66
Figure 3-4: Triton X-100 Titrations; 15 minute Permeabilization Treatment68
Figure 3-5: Triton X-100 Titrations; 2 hour Permeabilization Treatment69
Figure 3-6: Triton X-100 Titrations; 2 hour Permeabilization Treatment70
Figure 3-7: Graph of DNA-bound PCNA in <i>Gadd45α</i> wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage assayed by Flow Cytometry (FC)72
Figure 3-8: Comparison of Immunofluorescent Microscopy (IFM) and Flow Cytometry (FC) Graphs of DNA-bound PCNA in <i>Gadd45α</i> wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage
Figure 4-1: DNA-bound Western Blot

LIST OF NOMENCLATURE, SYMBOLS, AND ABBREVIATIONS

6-4 PP	6-4 photoproduct
A, C, G, T	adenosine, cytosine, guanine, thymine (DNA bases)
BCC	basal cell carcinoma
BER	base excision repair
bp	base pair
BRCA	breast cancer gene or protein
CDK	cyclin dependent kinase
Cisplatin	cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II)
CPD	cyclobutane pyrimidine dimer
CS	Cockayne syndrome
FC	flow cytometry
Gadd45α	growth arrest and DNA damage inducible 45 alpha
GGR	global genomic repair
HHR23	human homologue of RAD23
lκB	Inhibitor of NF-κB
IDC	Invasive ductal carcinoma
IFM	immunofluorescent microscopy
IKK	IκB kinase
IR	ionizing radiation
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
kDa	kilodalton
LOH	loss of heterozygosity

МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
МАРКК	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МАРККК	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast
MMR	mismatch repair
MMS	methyl methanesulfonate
MNNG	N-methyl-N-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine
NER	nucleotide excision repair
NF-κB	nuclear factor κB
NMSC	non-melanoma skin cancer
NP-40	nonidet P-40
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PKC	protein kinase C
SCC	squamous cell carcinoma
TCR	transcription coupled repair
TMZ	temozolomide
TNFR	Tumour necrosis factor receptor
ТТО	trichothiodystrophy
UV	ultraviolet
UV-DDB	UV DNA damage binding
XP	xeroderma pigmentosum

Chapter 1 + Literature Review

Ultraviolet Radiation

Skin Cancer is a major health issue in Canada. An estimated 78,000 cases of non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC), which includes squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and basal cell carcinoma (BCC), were diagnosed in 2005 (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2005). This represents a huge problem to our society. Indeed, the incidence of skin cancer has increased by two-thirds since 1990 making NMSC the most commonly diagnosed cancer in Canada (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2005). The ozone layer plays a vital role in skin cancer prevention. It is present in the earth's stratosphere and filters harmful radiation emitted by the sun, including UV light. It is thought that the depletion of the ozone layer, which allows an increasing amount of harmful UVB rays to penetrate to the earth's surface is the cause of this increase in incidence of NMSC (World Health Organization, 2005). This study will review the effects of UV radiation and the mechanisms responsible for repairing the damage caused by UV.

SOURCES AND EFFECTS OF UV RADIATION

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation is vital to life on earth. The human skin uses UV in Vitamin D production. Additionally, UV light is used to treat various skin

1

diseases, such as psoriasis, vitiligo and cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (Craddock, KJ et al., 2004), However, UV radiation has deleterious effects, including blindness, aging, decreased immune function, gene mutation and skin cancer (Craddock, KJ et al., 2004; Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002). UV is part of the electromagnetic spectrum in the range of 200 – 400nm and the UV spectrum is divided into three regions, UVA (315 – 400nm), UVB (280 – 315nm) and UVC (200 - 280nm) (Figure 1-1) (Soehnge, H et al., 1997). UVC, the highest energy UV, is largely absorbed by the earth's atmosphere and is blocked from reaching the earth's surface. It is found in germicidal UV lamps installed in laminar flow hoods for germicidal purposes. UVB is an intermediate energy source and is incompletely absorbed by the ozone layer, with 10% of the emitted UVB reaching the earth's surface. People who use tanning beds should be aware that traces of UVB are found in the lights used in these beds. UVB is absorbed by DNA, and is well known to play a major role in the pathogenesis of skin cancer. The low energy UVA completely penetrates the ozone layer (Figure 1-2) and is primary source of light used in tanning beds. Although it is not absorbed by DNA, UVA can cause oxidative DNA damage (World Health Organization, 2005).



Figure 1-1: Ultraviolet light spectrum

UVC (200-280nm) has the highest energy but is blocked by the ozone layer and does not reach the earth's surface. UVB (280-320nm) is important in skin tumourigenesis and is 1000 times more effective at causing skin erythema than UVA (320-400nm). (www.phys.ksu.edu/gene/e3f3.html).



Figure 1-2: Ultraviolet light atmospheric penetration

Representation of the penetrational abilities of UV light. Shorter wavelengths (UVC and some UVB) are absorbed by the ozone, while the longer wavelengths reach the earth's surface. UVA completely penetrates the ozone layer and is present at ground level. (Center for Global Environmental Research: www-cger2.nies.go.jp/ moni-e/ozone/uv/uv01.html)

UV RADIATION AND SKIN CANCER

UVA and UVB damage DNA via different mechanisms. UVA produces reactive oxygen species such as hydroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen through energy transfer from an excited photosensitizer or lipid peroxidation (Kvam, E and Tyrrell, RM, 1997). These molecules are responsible for creating single-strand DNA breaks, DNA-protein crosslinks, and altered DNA bases (Melnikova, VO and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2005). Because of its inability to be absorbed by DNA, UVA was not thought to be carcinogenic. However, animal studies have shown that exposure to high levels of UVA over extended periods will result in skin cancer (Strickland, PT, 1986; Zigman, S et al., 1976). Of note, this is comparable to regular use of tanning beds. DNA maximally absorbs UV light in the range of 245 - 290nm (Soehnge, H et al., 1997), within the UVB-UVC wavelengths. The absorption of UVB and UVC by DNA alters the bonds in pyrmidine bases, either cytosine (C) or thymine (T), producing two bulky DNA lesions, cyclobutane pyrmidine dimers (CPDs), and (6-4) pyrmidine-pyrmidone photoproducts (6-4PPs) (Figure 1-3). CPDs are the result of the formation of two bonds between C-4 and C-5 carbons of any two adjacent pyrmidines, either TT, CC or TC, saturating the double bonds and producing a four-membered ring. Formation of a 6-4PP results from a single bond between C-4 and C-6 position of two adjacent pyrmidines, either CT or CC residues (Figure 1-3) (Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002). Both mutations are bulky and result in bending of the DNA backbone.



Figure 1-3: Chemical formation of UV-induced DNA photoproducts

a) Formation of a cyclobutane pyrmidine dimer after UV radiation (thymine dimer illustrated). Energy from UVB forms two bonds between C-4 and C-5 carbons of two adjacent pyrmidines, TT or CC, and becomes saturated to produce a fourmembered ring and a bend in the DNA backbone. b) Formation of a (6-4) pyrmidine pyrmidone photoproduct after UV radiation. UV energy forms a single bond between C-4 and C-6 position of two adjacent pyrmidines, either CT or CC residues (Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002).

UVB is the most deleterious form of UV light, which is supported by several veins of evidence. First of all, UVC does not reach the earth's surface so is not considered a major source of mutagenic DNA damage. Secondly, UVB light is more than 1000 times more efficient at causing erythema, or sunburn, than UVA (Parrish, JA et al., 1982). Since erythema is an indicator of DNA damage in the epidermis of the skin, this indicates that UVB is 1000 times more effective at

5

causing DNA damage than UVA. Finally, more than 50% of UVB rays penetrate into the epidermis, the epithelial layer of the skin (Bruls, WA et al., 1984). It has been shown that repeated exposure to UVB, even at doses too low to cause sunburn, are capable of causing a build-up of CPDs in human keratinocytes (Chouinard, N et al., 2001). 6-4PPs do not contribute significantly to tumourigenesis as they occur six times less frequently (Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002) and are repaired at least five times faster than CPDs (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000).

Unrepaired DNA damage can lead to DNA polymerase stalling causing fragmented DNA or mutations in the DNA strand if the damage base is mispaired. Although there are species differences between humans and other mammals, the nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway, which is responsible for repairing CPDs and 6-4PPs, is highly conserved. Homologues of the NER proteins are present in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Yeast, hamster and mouse models are often used in studying this pathway (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000; de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000; Friedberg, EC, 2001). Both CPDs and 6-4PPs occur solely in regions with tandem pyrmidine residues, which are "hot spots" for UV-induced DNA damage and mutations (Brash, DE, 1988; Mitchell, DL et al., 1992; Sage, E, 1993). Since purines do not have C-4 or C-5 carbons, they are not mutated by UV. Both lesions cause bends in the DNA backbone, or

helix distortion, and can cause mutations in the DNA sequence if they are not repaired.

If a damaged DNA base, such as a CPD or 6-4PP is not repaired before DNA replication, mutations in the sequence may result from inappropriate base pairing. During replication, many proteins assemble to copy DNA into identical daughter strands, thus conserving the correct DNA sequence. Replication Factor C (RFC) loads PCNA onto DNA. PCNA acts as a scaffold for other proteins, such as DNA polymerases that actively copy DNA (Khlimankov, DY et al., 2004). The "A-rule" has been suggested as an explanation for the characteristic mutations seen with UV-induced DNA damage. This rule states that when DNA polymerase δ or ϵ encounter a UV-lesion they will, by default, insert an adenosine (A) opposite the bases they cannot interpret (Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002). Because A pairs with T, there is no mutation with a thymine dimer. However, when there is a CC CPD, a CC to TT transition occurs when the default A bases are inserted across from the Cs, instead of the correct guanine (G) bases. In the case of the 6-4PP between a pyrmidine and a C in the 3' position, the 5' base is interpreted correctly but the 3' C is paired with an A, resulting in a C to T mutation (Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002).

The presence of unrepaired UV lesions can lead to skin cancer, which is a major health concern world wide. Skin cancer can be divided into two major types,

malignant melanoma and NMSC, which, in turn, is composed of two diseases, SCC and BCC. Melanoma is very invasive, with a high mortality rate. Malignant melanoma originates from epidermal melanocytes and can occur in any tissue that has these cells, although it is most commonly found in the skin (Cummins, DL et al., 2006). Of the estimated 14,900 cancers (excluding NMSCs) reported in Canada in 2005, 4,400 were melanoma, with 20% of the cases resulting in death (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2005). The mortality rate of NMSC is far lower, as many of the tumours can be removed by surgery (National Cancer Institute of Canada, 2005), however these tumours should not regarded SCC are invasive, with as many as 10% of the tumours as indolent. metastasizing (Gross, DJ and Waner, M, 1992; Moller, R et al., 1979). In 2000 in the US, there were 1500 deaths from SCC, which was equivalent to the deaths caused by Hodgkin's disease (Stratton, SP et al., 2000). BCC is rarely fatal, but it can be locally destructive and causes considerable morbidity (Stratton, SP et al., 2000).

The progression to SSC has many stages, which are illustrated in Figure 1-4. Chronic exposure, even at suberythemal doses, or doses that are too low to cause sunburn, (Chouinard, N et al., 2001), leads to the accumulation of CPDs and eventually leads the precancerous lesions of dysplasia and actinic keratosis. From here, some of the cells will progress to SCC (Melnikova, VO and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2005) (Figure 1-5). In comparison, there is no precancerous stage for BCC (Figure 1-5). BCCs arise from cell layers deeper than SCCs, in the interfollicular basal calls, hair follicles or sebaceous glands (Hussein, MR, 2005).

Initiation and Progression of Human SCC



Figure 1-4: Development of Human Squamous Cell Carcinoma

UVB induction of DNA damage and apoptosis in keratinocytes. Accumulation of CPDs and defects in DNA repair and replication lead to accumulation of p53 mutations, loss of FasL expression, and resistance to apoptosis. With repeated exposure to UVB, the p53 mutant cells undergo clonal expansion and accumulate additional gene mutations. While some clones develop into actinic keratosis, others progress to SCC (Melnikova, VO and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2005).



Figure 1-5: Histology of NMSC

A) High power H&E staining of a basal cell carcinoma. Typical of BCCs, undifferentiated basaloid cells form irregular nodules. The cells display no tendency to mature toward squamous cells. There is a clearing between the tumour cells and the surrounding connective tissue. B) High power H&E staining of a squamous cell carcinoma. Characteristic features of SCC include nests of polygonal cells with moderate amounts of cytoplasm. Towards the center of the nests the cells may lose nuclei to form "keratin pearls", which can be seen at the top right. From (Washingtion, Uo, 2006) www.pathology.washington.edu/about/education/gallery/skin.php

DNA Damage Response

CELLULAR RESPONSES TO DNA DAMAGE

Cells are continually exposed to internal and external pressures, such as toxins,

and mutagens like UV or chemotherapy agents, that result in DNA damage. The cell must repair the DNA damage to maintain the genome. Signalling pathways exist for important cellular functions, such as cell cycle control, programmed cell death (apoptosis), and the DNA damage response, which are all essential to organism survival.

The proper cellular response to DNA damage is an essential process. Zhou and Elledge, 2000 illustrate this process in Figure 1-6. When a cell is exposed to DNA damaging agents or replication stress, sensor proteins are the first to respond. They detect the damage and initiate transducer proteins which relay the message to effector proteins. Effector proteins make critical decisions on how the cell will proceed. The cell has the option to repair the DNA damage, undergo cell cycle arrest, proceed with transcription to assist in those pathways, or, if the damage is too severe, to undergo apoptosis (Zhou, BB and Elledge, SJ, 2000) (Figure 1-6). If the cell does not respond properly to this damage, deleterious consequences may occur.

All of the responses of DNA damage are important to organism survival. Transcription regulates the DNA damage response as certain key proteins are up-regulated in response to DNA damage. Cell cycle arrest provides time to repair the DNA damage, while apoptosis destroys the cell if damage is too great to repair. If these processes do not work together, or suffer disregulation, diseases, such as cancer, can result.



Figure 1-6: DNA damage response

Signalling cascade from DNA damage or replication stress. Sensing of the DNA lesions leads to signal transduction, resulting in cellular changes such as changes in transcription, apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and DNA repair (Zhou, BB and Elledge, SJ, 2000).

It has been shown that UVB damage regulates the apoptotic response in human keratinocytes (Maeda, T et al., 2001), as well as many other cellular functions. One of the major players in the UV damage response is p53, a tumour suppressor protein with at least 7 functional properties. p53 can activate 20 promoters, repress an additional 26 enhancers or promoters, and interact with at least 35 cellular and viral proteins (Hussein, MR, 2005). The importance of p53 in the UV response is highlighted by the fact that 35% of all *p53* mutations in skin cancers are transitions in dipyrmidine sequences, which are classic UV-induced

mutations (Pfeifer, GP et al., 2005). UVB causes post-translational stabilization of the p53 gene, and the build-up of p53 protein transcribes downstream p53 "effector" proteins to control the DNA damage response. Examples of this include p21, a potent cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor that regulates the G₁ cell cycle checkpoint, growth arrest and DNA-damage inducible protein 45 alpha (Gadd45a) which stimulates nucleotide excision repair (NER) and Mdm2 which binds p53 and blocks the p53 transcriptional response (Maeda, T et al., 2005). p53 is also involved in the apoptotic response. When exposed to UVBirradiation, differentiating keratinocytes will undergo apoptosis, while basal keratinocytes enter DNA repair (Tron, VA et al., 1999). In addition, inactivation of p53 in mouse keratinocytes causes a reduction in the number of apoptotic cells after UV-irradiation (Ziegler, A et al., 1994). There is evidence that p53 is not involved in apoptosis in the skin (Chaturvedi, V et al., 2005; Tron, VA et al., 1999). Since apoptosis is the cause of the severe side effects of many cancer treatments, this has important clinical implications; potential treatments could safely involve induction of the p53 pathway, without risking induction of apoptosis.

DNA REPAIR

There are multiple DNA repair pathways that respond to different forms of DNA damage. Base excision repair (BER) removes most kinds of DNA damage, including modified or damaged bases, removal of purine bases and single strand

13

breaks (Sharova, NP, 2005) and is associated with oxidative damage (Smith, ML and Seo, YR, 2002). Mismatch repair (MMR) responds to base mismatches and small insertion or deletion loops resulting from post-replicative errors, while repair of double-strand breaks, commonly caused by ionizing radiation or mechanical stress, is performed by recombination repair or non-homologous end-joining (Sharova, NP, 2005). Chemical agents such as chemotherapy drugs like cisplatin, psoralen and mitomycin, result in DNA cross-links which are repaired by cross-link repair, and UV-induced DNA-lesions (CPDs and 6-4PPs) are removed by NER (Lehmann, AR, 1995; Matsumura, Y and Ananthaswamy, HN, 2002). Recent evidence shows the existence of DNA-polymerases that are able to bypass irremovable bases and can either preserve DNA sequence or result in mutation depending on the type of damage and the resulting bypass mechanism (Sharova, NP, 2005). The mechanisms of the repair pathways differ greatly; while BER excises damaged bases as free bases and MMR removes mispaired bases as single nucleotides, NER removes an oligonucleotide fragment of ~25-30 nucleotides and resynthesized the DNA (de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000; Friedberg, EC, 2001).

NUCLEOTIDE EXCISION REPAIR

NER repairs bulky DNA lesions including UV-induced photoproducts. Nearly all forms of life are exposed to UV. Consequentially, UV has driven the evolution of DNA repair pathways in many organisms (Cleaver, JE et al., 2001). The NER 14

pathway has developed in both the prokaryotic and eukaryotic kingdoms to deal with UV-induced damage, showing the importance of this mechanism (Cleaver, JE et al., 2001). It is the most studied (Cleaver, JE et al., 2001; Zhan, Q et al., 1999) and arguably the most complex DNA-repair pathway, involving as many as 30 different genes (Tannock, IF, Hill, Richard P., 1998) It is also the most diverse repair pathway as it removes many types of structurally unrelated DNA lesions (de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000).

Disruptions of the NER pathway in humans results in three human syndromes characterized by extreme photosensitivity and a wide array of neurological disorders (de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000). Patients with Cockayne syndrome (CS) and trichothiodystrophy (TTD) both display these symptoms, while individuals with xeroderma pigmentosum (XP) have more severe phenotypes (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000; Riedl, T et al., 2003). XP was the first disorder described as resulting from a deficiency in NER (Cleaver, JE, 1968). Along with sun sensitivity and neurological symptoms, patients with XP have a marked predisposition to cancer arising from exposure to UV light (Cleaver, JE, 1968). The genetic complexity of these diseases was established by fusing cells from different patients to examine the phenotypic correction, or complementation. This is known as cell-fusion (Friedberg, EC, 2001). Cell-fusion experiments have identified seven complementation groups of proteins from patients with XP (XPA to XPG), two from CS patients (CSA and CSB), three from patients with

combined XP and CS (XPB, XPD and XPG) and three in patients with TTD (TTDA, XPB and XPD) (de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000).

Each complementation group represents a different genetic mutation and is associated with different severity of symptoms. For example, XP patients with XPA, XPB, XPD and XPG display an extreme NER deficiency, associated with more severe neurological defects while those with XPE display the mildest defect (Batty, DP and Wood, RD, 2000; Friedberg, EC, 2001; Kraemer, KH et al., 1975; van Hoffen, A et al., 2003). It is interesting that a different genetic mutation of the same gene is able to produce a different disease. Individuals with mutations in XPB, XPD and XPG will develop XP or XP/CS depending on the mutation in XPB, XPD, or XPG. Additionally, TTD can result from a different mutation in XPB or XPD. Considering the vast differences in phenotype and severity of the three diseases, the additional cancer predisposition for XP, and the other abnormalities of CS (skeletal abnormalities) and TTD (brittle hair) it is remarkable that they are all caused by deficiencies of NER proteins.

The NER pathway is composed of multiple proteins reacting in a specific, ordered fashion to recognize, remove and replace damaged nucleotides (Figure 1-7). The two branches of NER, global genomic repair (GGR) and transcription coupled repair (TCR), differ depending on the recognition signal. PCNA is integral to NER and is involved in the resynthesis step of both pathways.

Damage recognition the GGR pathway involves the binding of XPC to the damage site. RAD23, a protein involved in NER in yeast, has two human homologues, human homologue for RAD23A or RAD23B (HHR23A or HHR23B). Both HHR23A and HHR23B are thought to interact with XPC, although when extracted from human cells, only HHR23B co-immunoprecipitates with XPC (Batty, DP and Wood, RD, 2000; Sugasawa, K et al., 1998; Wood, RD, 1999). The presence of UV-DNA damage binding (UV-DDB) protein complex is the first step in GGR signalling (Bohr, VA et al., 1985). UV-DDB is composed of the XPE protein p48 and p127, which is also found in association with proteins involved with transcription (Batty, DP and Wood, RD, 2000; van Hoffen, A et al., 2003). UV-DDB is probably an accessory complex; it enhances XPC-HHR23B binding but is not essential (Aboussekhra, A et al., 1995; Bessho, T et al., 1997; ... Kazantsev, A et al., 1996). This is also supported by the fact that XPE cells display the mildest NER defect (Batty, DP and Wood, RD, 2000) with a relatively high repair capacity (van Hoffen, A et al., 2003). The role of UV-DDB depends on the type of damage and may play a bigger role in the removal of 6-4PPs (Abramic, M et al., 1991; Keeney, S et al., 1993), which cause more distortion of the helical backbone (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000; de Boer, J and Hoeijmakers, JH, 2000). The second NER pathway, TCR, is activated solely by damage on the transcribed strand of DNA and is driven by transcription (van Hoffen, A et al., 2003). Since damage on the non-transcribed strand is not recognized by TCR and GGR is able to repair damage on both strands of DNA,

GGR may overrule TCR (van Hoffen, A et al., 1995). TCR is initiated when RNA polymerase II (RNApoIII) is arrested at the damage site resulting in protein displacement. CSB is part of the RNApoIII elongation complex (Tantin, D, 1998; Tantin, D et al., 1997) and is likely involved, along with CSA in downstream signalling during elongation only (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000). Transcription factor IIH (TFIIH) is involved in the initiation step of transcription, as well as NER, and is released during elongation (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000). There is evidence that CPDs occurring within 50 bases of the initiation sites of different genes are repaired in the absence of CSB and CSA in yeast (Tijsterman, M and Brouwer, J, 1999). This may be due to the presence of TFIIH at the initiation site eliminating the need for its re-recruitment by CSA and CSB (Balajee, AS and Bohr, VA, 2000).



Figure 1-7: Nucleotide Excision Repair Pathways

Schematic Diagram of Global Genomic Repair (GGR) and Transcription Coupled Repair (TCR). During GGR, UV damage (pyrmidine dimer shown) (a) is recognized by XPC-HHR23B (b) possibly with the assistance of DDB. In TCR, UV damage is upstream (c) of RNApolII (with CSB) and is recognized during transcription (d). After recognition the two pathways converge when XPA, TFIIH, XPB and XPD are recruited to the damage site (e). The TFIIH:XPB:XPD complex unzips the DNA (f) to allow an ERCC1:XPF and XPG to excise the damaged strand of DNA (g). PCNA, RFC and DNApol δ or ϵ are recruited (h) and fill in the missing bases to complete a damage-free DNA strand (i) which is ligated by DNA ligase I (not shown).

After damage recognition XPA verifies the damage and the rest of the NER complex assembles. XPA recruits TFIIH, whose six subunits facilitate the unwinding of DNA with the XPB and XPD helicases, generating sites for DNA incision (Friedberg, EC, 2001). After unwinding, endonucleases are recruited to incise and excise the damaged DNA. XPG cleaves the DNA 3' to the DNA damage site, while the ERCC1-XPF heterodimer cuts the 5' end of the damage (Friedberg, EC, 2001). Replication protein A (RPA) stabilizes the process. Although the oligonucleotide is roughly 30 nucleotides in length, the damaged site is closer to 3' incision (Friedberg, EC, 2001).

Following excision, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), replication factor C (RFC), RPA and DNA polymerase (DNApol) δ or ϵ assemble to fill in the missing bases (Shivji, MK et al., 1995). DNApol δ is normally associated with PCNA replication, but there is evidence that DNApol ϵ is more efficient in NER (Shivji, MK et al., 1995). Finally DNA ligase I replaces DNApol on PCNA (Riva, F et al., 2004) to ligate the repaired DNA (Friedberg, EC, 2001; Shivji, MK et al., 1995).

PCNA

Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) autoantibodies were first discovered in a proportion of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (Miyachi, K et al., 1978). This autoantibody was found to be present only in proliferating cells and was detected with multiple immunological techniques.

PCNA often acts in a p53-dependent manner (Paunesku, T et al., 2001) and is involved in many cellular processes through protein interactions, including DNA replication (Bravo, R and Celis, JE, 1980), repair and cell cycle control (Loor, G et al., 1997). PCNA has no enzymatic activity but forms a homotrimeric protein (Figure 1-8) that freely slides along double stranded DNA (Kelman, Z, 1997; Krishna, TS et al., 1994) acting as a scaffold. The importance of PCNA is evident as homologues have been found in eukaryotes, archaea, bacteria and viruses (Roberts, JA et al., 2003; Warbrick, E, 2000). Many proteins that interact with PCNA have a conserved PCNA binding motif (Jonsson, ZO et al., 1998) that has been extensively studied in the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 (Warbrick, E, 2000). Since many proteins interact with PCNA through this site, and each PCNA homotrimer is able to bind up to three proteins, there is competition for the sites, and regulation must exist. However, it is not understood how a cell regulates protein binding to PCNA. Other proteins bind to PCNA outside of the conserved binding domain, including Gadd45a and Gadd45β (MyD118) (Vairapandi, M et al., 2000).



Figure 1-8: Crystal structure of human PCNA.

The three monomers are highlighted by different colour combinations; blue, green and red-orange. The disk-shape allows PCNA to act as a sliding clamp along DNA. From www.rscb.ord/pbd

Perhaps PCNA's major role is as the processivity clamp for DNA polymerase δ and ε , functioning as a tether between the catalytic unit and the DNA template (Ducoux, M et al., 2001; Kelman, Z, 1997). This interaction is vital to both DNA replication and repair. PCNA binds to DNA with the C-terminus facing toward the direction of DNA synthesis (Jonsson, ZO et al., 1998). It interacts with other replication proteins, including DNA ligase I (Riva, F et al., 2004), Fen1, a eukaryotic 5' endonuclease, and RFC, which assembles PCNA onto the DNA strand (Warbrick, E, 2000). However, PCNA also has many other roles in the cell, which is evident by the large number of proteins that interact with PCNA. XPG has a conserved PCNA-binding motif and may recruit PCNA to the replication phase of NER (Warbrick, E, 2000). The MMR proteins MSH3 and MSH6 both have the conserved PCNA-binding motif, and it has been theorized 22

that PCNA may be involved in strand differentiation; the presence of PCNA at the replication fork identifies the direction of DNA synthesis, which distinguishes the two strands (Warbrick, E, 2000). PCNA also interacts with proteins involved in post-replication processing and DNA helicases (Warbrick, E, 2000). PCNA interacts with p21 and a number of cyclins (Jonsson, ZO and Hubscher, U, 1997; Prosperi, E et al., 1994; Riva, F et al., 2004) indicating a role in the cell cycle. There is also evidence that PCNA hinders the negative growth control of Gadd45 α or Gadd45 β . Ectopic expression of Gadd45 α or Gadd45 β lacking the PCNA binding domains suppressed cell growth or induced apoptosis more efficiently than full length protein (Vairapandi, M et al., 2000).

PCNA antibodies have been used extensively to study PCNA staining patterns, with clone PC10 being the most widely used for immunofluorescence. Different patterns of PCNA exist in different stages of the cell cycle, with nuclei extracted with Nonidet P-40 (NP-40) showing PCNA positivity mainly in S-phase nuclei (Wilson, GD et al., 1992). While nuclei in S-phase have a high proportion of phosphorylated PCNA, cyclin D1 and cyclin A were bound to DNA with PCNA primarily at the G_1 /S phase boundary, possibly preparing for DNA replication (Prosperi, E et al., 1994). It has been suggested that DNA-bound PCNA trimers during S-phase are organized into pools that selectively bind different partners, such as DNApol δ or DNA ligase I, which bind in a mutually exclusive manner (Riva, F et al., 2004).

PCNA AND REPAIR

PCNA was first extracted as an excision repair protein more than a decade ago (Nichols, AF and Sancar, A, 1992; Shivji, KK et al., 1992). It forms repair complexes in response to ionizing radiation (IR) (Karmakar, P et al., 2001), and UV (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995; Balajee, AS et al., 1998; Shivji, KK et al., 1992) and has been implicated in steps preceding resynthesis in MMR (Umar, A et al., 1996).

Initial work with PCNA antibodies led to the discovery of many different staining patterns, especially with clone PC10. To eliminate interference from non-DNA bound PCNA, treatment with detergent prior to fixation has been widely used (Miura, M, 1999). Two detergents are commonly used; NP-40 (Prosperi, E et al., 1994) and Triton X-100 (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995). Triton X-100 leaves only proteins that are so tightly bound to DNA that they cannot be released with high-salt extractions (Bravo, R and Macdonald-Bravo, H, 1987).

The formation of PCNA repair complex is dependent on both the TCR and GGR pathways and that immunoprecipitated-PCNA binds many parts of the NER pathways, including XPA, p53, RPA p34 subunit and TFIIH (Balajee, AS et al., 1998). The balance between replication and repair is likely maintained by altering the PCNA protein complex. PCNA binding to ING1 increases tenfold in 24

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

response to UV and is inhibited by p21. This UV-damage associated interaction induces apoptosis and indicates that ING1 contributes to shifting the PCNA response to repair and ultimately cell death in response to UV (Scott, M et al., 2001).

PCNA, like many proteins, undergoes post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation (Prosperi, E et al., 1994), ubiguitination (Kirkpatrick, DS et al., 2005), acetylation (Naryzhny, SN and Lee, H, 2004) and sumoylation (Papouli, E et al., 2005). These modifications act to regulate its diverse array of functions and localization (Naryzhny, SN and Lee, H, 2004). There are three isoforms of PCNA with different levels of acetylation. Co-immunoprecipitation studies show that p300 and histone deacetylase (HDAC1) are pulled down by PCNA. This suggests that these two proteins are responsible for the acetylation and deacetylation PCNA respectively. Moderately acetylated PCNA is found in all subcellular compartments of cells that are actively dividing, while the highly acetylated (acidic) form is found primarily in the nucleus. Deacetylated (basic) PCNA is the primary form found in nucleoplasm of dividing cells and prohibits PCNA from binding DNA polymerase β and δ (Naryzhny, SN and Lee, H, 2004). DNA-bound PCNA in S-phase cells is highly phosphorylated. Phosphorylation of PCNA likely precedes DNA-binding (Prosperi, E et al., 1994). Monoubiquitination of PCNA is a reversible process that is linked to DNA repair function (Huang, TT et al., 2006). This process is required for accumulation and

25
stability at DNA damage sites (Solomon, DA et al., 2004) and leads to translesion synthesis (Huang, TT et al., 2006; Papouli, E et al., 2005). As translesion synthesis is potentially dangerous, there are multiple processes that regulate this process. Ubiquitin specific protease 1 (USP1), a deubiquitinating enzyme, removes ubiquitin from PCNA and is inactivated by UV irradiation (Huang, TT et al., 2006). Ubiquitination and sumoylation of PCNA occur at the same site. Ubiquitination of PCNA promotes DNA-damage bypass, while sumoylation, which occurs independently of DNA damage, prevents translesion synthesis by interacting with Srs2p, a DNA helicase that suppresses unscheduled homologous recombination rather than competition between SUMO and ubiquitin for PNCA (Papouli, E et al., 2005).

PCNA is bound to DNA longer during repair than in replication and that monoubiquitination regulates the time that PCNA spends at replication sites. PCNA is bound to repair sites during all stages of cell cycle, but disappears at early Sphase and reappears at distinct foci in late S phase (Essers, J et al., 2005). There are different binding affinities of PCNA for DNA replication and repair and that the mobile pool of PCNA in the nucleus allows for dynamic assembly of PCNA at different sites (Essers, J et al., 2005). PCNA forms distinct pools used for either replication or repair. The mono-ubiquitinated DNA-bound PCNA forms repair foci with γ H2AX, RPA and Rad51 and is not required for or involved in initiation of DNA replication (Szuts, D et al., 2005).

Gadd45α

Growth arrest and DNA damage inducible gene 45α (*Gadd* 45α) is a member of a family of genes that are activated in response to various DNA damaging agents, such as UV, IR and methyl methanesulfonate (MMS) and media starvation. It was first described in 1989 (Fornace, AJ, Jr. et al., 1989) and is thought to be a nuclear protein (Carrier, F et al., 1994) that binds to a variety of proteins. Its three dimensional structure is yet to be determined. Gadd 45α self-associates *in vitro* and *in vivo* and interacts with the other Gadd45 family proteins, Gadd 45β and Gadd 45γ (CR6) (Kovalsky, O et al., 2001). It responds to many types of DNA-damage signals, contains x-ray responsive elements (Daino, K et al., 2003) and is induced by UV in a p53-dependent and independent manner (Maeda, T et al., 2003).

Molecular Regulation of Gadd45 α

Gadd45α is induced by different pathways in response to different damaging agents. Gadd45α is activated by p53 in response to IR, but, unlike the majority of p53-regulated proteins, is often activated in a p53-independent manner in response to UV damage (Fan, W et al., 2002; Jin, S et al., 2001; Maeda, T et al., 2003; Ohtani-Fujita, N et al., 1998; Takahashi, S et al., 2001; Tong, T et al.,

2001). Although DNA damage is required for activation of Gadd45 α by p53 (Xiao, G et al., 2000), p53 is able to up-regulate Gadd45 α in the absence of direct DNA-binding, acting to stimulate the promoter through protein-protein interactions (Zhan, Q et al., 1998). PRMT1, p300 and CARM1 have been are cofactors in the induction of Gadd45 α in response to p53 expression and UV damage (An, W et al., 2004). YY1 has also been shown to bind to a subset of p53-responsive genes, including *Gadd45\alpha* and *p21*, and may assist in regulating how the cells respond to p53 activation (Yakovleva, T et al., 2004). In addition to p53, Gadd45 α is activated by the overexpression of BRCA1 through transcriptional upregulation (Jin, S et al., 2000).

Gene transcription is essential for protein expression. Gene promoters contain certain sequences (motifs) that allow specific transcription factors to bind and transcribe genes. For example, the Oct-1 transcription factor binds to the OCT-1 motif, while the NF-YA transcription factor binds to the CAAT motif. *Gadd45a* contains OCT-1 and CAAT motifs which play an important role in its activation (Fan, W et al., 2002). The OCT-1 motif is involved in the p53-independent activation of the *Gadd45a* promoter in response to UV irradiation (Takahashi, S et al., 2001) and both motifs allow *Gadd45a* to be activated in p53-independent manner by BRCA1 (Fan, W et al., 2002), histone deacetylase inhibitor (Hirose, T et al., 2003), Δ^{12} -prostaglandin J₂ (Ohtani-Fujita, N et al., 1998) through interaction with the transcription factors NF-YA and Oct-1 (Jin, S et al., 2001).

There is evidence that the mitogen activated protein kinase pathways help to regulate the expression of Gadd45 α in response to UV damage through the OCT-1 and CAAT motifs. Inhibition of Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and ERK kinase drastically decreases the induction of Gadd45 α after UV damage, but is not affected by the inhibition of p38 kinase. Additionally, expression of JNK1, Raf-1 and MEK1 results in strong activation of the *Gadd45\alpha* promoter. This occurs in a p53-independent manner through the interaction with the OCT-1 and CAAT motifs (Tong, T et al., 2001).



Figure 1-9: JNK and p38 MAPK Pathways

There are three major MAPK pathways; ERK (not shown), JNK and p38. After receptor stimulation, mitogen activated protein kinase kinases (MAPKKs) phosphorylate and activate mitogen activated protein kinase kinases (MAPKKs) which phosphorylate and activate mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) (ERK, JNK or p38) which result in various cellular responses. JNK and p38 are initiated in response to various stimuli including UV and inflammatory cytokines. Some of these are the same stimuli that activate the NF- κ B pathway (Figure 1-10). MEKK4 (MTK1), a MAPKKK activates the MAPKKs in both the JNK pathway (SEK1 and MKK7) and the p38 pathway (MKK3 and MKK6).

Many cellular pathways assist in the regulation of the Gadd45 α protein, although the details of many of these remain unclear. It is known that the cell cycle affects expression of Gadd45 α . In response to *p*53 or *BRCA1* expression Gadd45 α is transiently down-regulated during G₀/G₁, and is present at its highest levels during S-phase (Kettenhofen, R et al., 2001). There is evidence that the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-Atk pathway regulates Gadd45 α through induction of the FOXO3a transcription factor. Atk is a serine-threonine kinase (also called protein kinase B) that is activated by receptor tyrosine kinases. It phosphorylates and inhibits FOXO family forkhead transcription factors, of which FOXO3a has been shown to up-regulate Gadd45 α in response to UV (Tran, H et al., 2002). By inhibiting FOXO3a activity, Atk assists to inhibit the transcription of Gadd45 α . Overexpression of FOXO3a results in a G₁ cell-cycle checkpoint and upregulates the expression of many genes involved in the DNA damage response at the G₂M checkpoint, including Gadd45 α (Tran, H et al., 2002).

Another signalling pathway that regulates Gadd45 α expression is the nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B) pathway. NF- κ B is a transcription factor and a vital protein in the stress-induced cell response, including apoptosis (Chen, F et al., 2001). Heterodimers of NF- κ B family proteins, which includes Rel(c-Rel), RelA(p65), RelB, NF- κ B1(p100/p50) and NF- κ B(p105/p52) form the active component of

31

NF-κB (Papa, S et al., 2004; Schneider, G et al., 2006). In the cytoplasm, the NF- κ B dimers are sequestered by the inhibitor of NF- κ B (I κ B) which keep the protein inactive (Papa, S et al., 2004; Schneider, G et al., 2006). The NF-κB pathway (Figure 1-10) has been linked to in tumourigenesis, cancer cell survival, apoptosis, invasion and metastasis (Papa, S et al., 2004; Schneider, G et al., 2006; Zerbini, LF et al., 2004). NF- κ B is activated by stress signals, including UVB (Zerbini, LF et al., 2004) and translocates to the nucleus to transcribe various proteins. Post-transcriptional stabilization of Gadd45a mRNA occurs in response to the inhibition of NF- κ B (Zheng, X et al., 2005). Inhibition of NF- κ B in vitro inhibits cell proliferation and induces apoptosis. Similarly, in vivo obstruction of NF- κ B abolished tumour formation in SCID mice (Zerbini, LF et al., 2004). Loss of NF-kB alters the expression of Gadd45 proteins, displaying an increased expression of Gadd45 α and y and decreased expression of Gadd45 β . А connection between NF-kB and Gadd45a exists in c-Myc, since this transcription factor is a target gene for NF- κ B and is able to suppress the Gadd45 α promoter through a polymerase II recruitment mechanism (Barsyte-Lovejoy, D et al., 2004). Blockage of NF- κ B reduces of c-Myc, while activation of NF- κ B leads to increased levels of c-Myc and a reduction of Gadd45α promoter activity (Zerbini, LF et al., 2004). Assays using $IKK\beta^{-1-}$ MEFs, which have inactive NF- κ B, display an increase of Gadd45a mRNA of 3 to 4 times in knock-out cells over wild-type cells, and an increase of reactive oxygen species. Although these cells display no change in the Gadd45α regulatory proteins Atk, FoxO3a, p53 or c-Myc, 32

nucleolin, an mRNA stabilizing protein, was shown to bind to $Gadd45\alpha$ mRNA in increased levels in the knock-out cells using immunoprecipitation. This indicates that inhibition of NF- κ B regulates $Gadd45\alpha$ mRNA through post-translational modifications rather than transcription in some cell types (Zheng, X et al., 2005).



Figure 1-10: NF-kB Pathway

Schematic diagram of the NF- κ B pathway. NF- κ B is complexed with I κ B in the cytoplasm, inhibiting its function. Receptor stimulation leads to I κ B kinases (IKKs) phosphorylating I κ B releasing it from NF- κ B and inducing its ubiquitindependent degradation. Activated NF- κ B translocates to the nucleus where it is stabilized by acetylation and transcribes various genes, such as c-Myc. Deacetylation of NF- κ B allows I κ B to bind, inactivating it and translocating to the cytoplasm. There is evidence of crosstalk between the NF- κ B and JNK mitogen activated protein kinase MAPK pathways. The three major MAPK pathways respond to different cellular signals (Figure 1-9). JNK is stimulated by UV and inflammatory cytokines through the tumour necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) similar to the NF- κ B pathway (Papa, S et al., 2004). Stimulation of Gadd45 α and γ in response to NF- κ B inhibition is essential for JNK activation and induction of apoptosis (Zerbini, LF et al., 2004). NF- κ B deficient cells can be rescued from TNF- α induced apoptosis by inhibition of JNK signalling (De Smaele, E et al., 2001; Javelaud, D and Besancon, F, 2001; Tang, G et al., 2001). Similarly, when JNKK2/MKK7 is knocked-out, TNF- α -induced apoptosis is abolished in ReIA-null cells (Deng, Y et al., 2003). In addition, when NF- κ B is suppressed, JNK is persistently induced by TNF- α , which results in apoptosis (De Smaele, E et al., 2001; Javelaud, D and Besancon, F, 2001; Tang, G et al., 2001).

Further regulation of Gadd45 α occurs in post-translational modifications. Gadd45 α is ubiquitinated in an epidermal growth factor-dependent manner, while PKC δ results in Gadd45 α deubiquitination and stabilization (Leung, CH et al., 2001). B23, a nucleolar phosphoprotein involved in ribosomal assembly, centrosome duplication, cell proliferation and transcriptional regulation, regulates the nuclear translocation of Gadd45 α and is involved in the Gadd45 α -induced G₂/M cell cycle checkpoint (Gao, H et al., 2005). In addition nucleolin binds to Gadd45 α and stabilizes Gadd45 α mRNA (Zheng, X et al., 2005). Although 35 regulation of Gadd45 α is still not completely understood, it is clear that the process is very complex and occurs on many levels.

$GADD45\alpha$ and CANCER

It has been hypothesized that loss of Gadd45α may substitute for loss of p53 in p53 wild type tumours. One study of 24 tumour cell lines including 11 with wild type p53 and found that Gadd45a sequence was not mutated in any of these cell lines (Campomenosi, P and Hall, PA, 2000). Another study evaluated 59 breast carcinomas for Gadd45a mutations. These carcinomas consisted of 8 with mutated BRCA1, 7 with BRCA2 mutations and 9 with mutations in p53. No mutations for Gadd45a sequence were found and only 19 of the 59 displayed loss of heterozygosity (LOH) (Sensi, E et al., 2004). More recently hypermethylation of the Gadd45a promoter has been described in breast cancer (Wang, W et al., 2005) and prostate cancer (Wang, Y et al., 2005). Meningiomas have been analysed for Gadd45α mutations. No mutations or proteins levels were altered in either the 19 meningiomas with LOH or the 20 meningiomas without LOH suggesting that Gadd45a is not involved in meningioma tumourigenesis (Piaskowski, S et al., 2005). Invasive ductal carcinomas (IDC) of the pancreas were analyzed for p53 and Gadd45a expression. A significant proportion of IDC displayed Gadd45a mutations and that expression of Gadd45a had no effect on the efficacy of adjuvant chemotherapy. Furthermore, in p53 wild

type tumours, the presence of Gadd45a correlated with decreased survival than those without Gadd45a. These data suggest that Gadd45a can be a predictor of patient survival in resectable pancreatic IDCs (Yamasawa, K et al., 2002). These data suggest, that although Gadd45a sequence is not mutated in most cancers, downregulation of protein expression may occur through promoter methylation and that suppression of protein expression may play a role in tumour progression.

Breast carcinoma has also been shown to have an increased level of *Gadd45a* both in tumour samples and tumour cell lines (Schneider, G et al., 2006). A mouse model of this tumour, which is null for *p53*, over-expresses *Gadd45a*, indicating that *Gadd45a* functions in the neoplastic process. In these tumours, the addition of a super-I κ B, which abolishes NF- κ B activity, *Gadd45a* mRNA and protein are down-regulated (Schneider, G et al., 2006), in contrast to the accepted mechanism where decreased levels of NF- κ B results in increased levels of Gadd45a (Zerbini, LF et al., 2004; Zheng, X et al., 2005). Additionally, the knock-down of Gadd45a results in increased apoptosis and decreased proliferation, indicating that Gadd45a no longer inhibits growth, but has acquired a prosurvival function. These results are highly tissue specific, and are not present in other cellular backgrounds (Schneider, G et al., 2006). High levels of *Gadd45a* have also been reported in other cancer cell lines and tumour samples including acute myelocytic leukemia (Casas, S et al., 2003), colon cancer (Scott,

DW et al., 2005) and gastric cancer (Napieralski, R et al., 2005), and was negatively associated with response to therapy and survival in gastric carcinoma (Napieralski, R et al., 2005). These increased levels may arise from mutated p53 which leads to disregulation of p53-activated proteins (Hildesheim, J and Fornace, AJ, Jr., 2002; Yamasawa, K et al., 2002) and altered change in the function of these proteins, including Gadd45 α (Schneider, G et al., 2006).

GADD45 α MICE

Mice lacking the *Gadd45α* gene were developed through homologous recombination. These mice display a phenotype that is somewhat similar to p53 mice, including genomic instability, characterized by aneuploidy, chromosome aberrations, gene amplification, centrosome amplification, and increased radiation carcinogenesis (Hollander, MC and Fornace, AJ, Jr., 2002; Hollander, MC et al., 1999). Genomic instability is accompanied by abnormal mitosis, cytokinesis and growth control (Hollander, MC et al., 1999) and is coupled with defects in the S-phase cell cycle checkpoint (Hollander, MC et al., 2005). These mice also have an increased sensitivity to chemical carcinogenesis, which is linked to an increased mutation frequency and decreased repair (Hollander, MC et al., 2001) and display increased homologous recombination during development, which leads to DNA deletions and mutation (Bishop, AJ et al., 2003; Reliene, R and Schiestl, RH, 2003). This highlights the importance of

Gadd45 α in maintaining genomic stability in the p53 pathway. Additionally, *Gadd45\alpha* knock-out mice develop a lupus-like syndrome (Salvador, JM et al., 2002) and spontaneously activate the alternative p38 pathway in T-cells. This activation is abrogated by addition of Gadd45 α , suggesting that Gadd45 α inhibits this pathway in murine T-cells (Salvador, JM et al., 2005). Gadd45 α -deficient mice have a pronounced decrease in GGR, similar to that of the p53-deficient mice (Smith, ML et al., 2000), indicating a role for Gadd45 α in NER.

MULTIPLE ROLES OF GADD45 α

The roles of Gadd45 α vary depending on the type of damage or cell stress. Since Gadd45 α deficient mice display defective NER, Gadd45 α has been extensively studied in the UV-damage response. Gadd45 α has many roles in the cell, as is evident by the diverse phenotype of the *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* mice. The role of Gadd45 α in apoptosis is controversial. UV induces apoptosis in *Gadd45\alpha* deficient MEFs (Maeda, T et al., 2002) and that microinjection of Gadd45 α into human fibroblasts could not induce apoptosis, in contrast to microinjection of p53, which caused apoptosis (Wang, XW et al., 1999). Additionally, hematopoietic cells from Gadd45 α - or Gadd45 β -deficient mice were more sensitive to UVC- and chemotherapy-induced apoptosis, suggesting that these proteins are antiapoptotic in function (Gupta, M et al., 2005). Other evidence suggests that the presence of Gadd45 α promotes apoptosis. One study shows that Gadd45α protects against skin tumours by promoting apoptosis in vivo (Hildesheim, J et al., 2002). It causes the cytoskeleton to release Bim and translocates it to the mitochondria to induce apoptosis (Tong, T et al., 2005).

Many of the functions of Gadd45 α are due to interactions with the p38 and JNK MAPK pathways (Figure 1-9). BRCA1 activation of Gadd45a results in JNK- or p38 dependent cell death (Harkin, DP et al., 1999; Takekawa, M and Saito, H, 1998). Yeast-two-hybrid assays verify that Gadd45 α , β and γ interact with MTK1 (or MEKK4), a human MAPKKK that activates both p38 and JNK, by binding to the autoinhibitory domain of MTK1 and releasing autoinhibition (Mita, H et al., 2002; Takekawa, M and Saito, H, 1998). The Gadd45 proteins can activate MTK1 both in vitro and in vivo in mouse models (Takekawa, M and Saito, H, 1998). Following activation, MTK1 binds and activates MKK6 and results in activation of the JNK and p38 MAPK pathways (Figure 1-9) and apoptosis (Mita, H et al., 2002; Takekawa, M and Saito, H, 1998). Both p38 and JNK are activated by MMS, UV and, to a small extent, IR. These sources of DNA damage activate p53 and upregulate Gadd45α expression (Takekawa, M and Saito, H, 1998), indicating that Gadd45a may play an important role in the BRCA1-induced apoptotic pathway. However, Gadd45α-deficient MEFs do not display altered levels of p38 or JNK in response to genotoxic stress indicating that the absence of Gadd45a may not affect JNK and p38 MAPK activities (Wang, X et al., 1999). In these cells it is possible that Gadd45 β (MyD118) or

Gadd45 γ (CR6) could compensate for the lack of Gadd45 α in the MAPK pathways (Sheikh, MS et al., 2000). p53-dependent activation of Gadd45 α results in apoptosis in response to the methyltransferase inhibitor 5-aza-cytidine (Schneider-Stock, R et al., 2005), which demonstrates that Gadd45 α can induce apoptosis even in the absence of UV light.

Gadd45α has roles in the MAPK pathways in addition to apoptosis resulting from interaction with MTK1. The ERK and JNK, but not the p38 pathways, are induced by the overexpression of H-ras in Gadd45a deficient MEFs, which correlates with a loss of H-ras-induced cell cycle arrest in the absence of Gadd45a (Bulavin, DV et al., 2003). This is strengthened by the fact that p38, but not JNK or ERK complexes with the Gadd45α proteins (Bulavin, DV et al., 2003). Gadd45 α is a target and positive modulator of p38 (Hildesheim, J et al., 2002) and stabilizes p53 levels through interaction with p38, in a positive feedback loop (Jin, S et al., 2003). Inhibition of p38 in a Gadd45a proficient background results in deregulation of p53 activation (Bulavin, DV et al., 2003). Through the p38 pathway, Gadd45 α acts as a negative regulator of $\Delta Np63\alpha$, a homologue of p53 that is predominantly expressed in basal keratinocytes (Hildesheim, J et al., 2004). $\Delta Np63\alpha$ acts as a dominant-negative factor blocking the expression of multiple p53-effector genes and blocks the expression of adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) destruction complex. APC targets free cytoplasmic β-catenin for degradation, preventing it from translocating to the

nucleus and acting in a bipartite transcription factor complex. The targets of this complex includes the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which regulate proliferation, metastasis and cell migration (Hildesheim, J et al., 2004). Loss of either Gadd45 α or p38 prevents Δ Np63 α suppression, GSK3 β dephosphorylation and β -catenin degradation after UV treatment (Hildesheim, J et al., 2004). Gadd45a directly interacts with PP2A and GSK3B, components of the APC complex, and promotes dephosphorylation and activation of GSK3B, resulting in activation of the APC complex in vitro. Gadd45α-null keratinocytes display MMP expression and increased mobility in vitro and accelerated wound closure in vivo (Hildesheim, J et al., 2004). Additionally Gadd45α and p38 are essential in shuttling of APC between the nucleus and cytoplasm. p38 associates and modulates both casein kinase 2, which promotes APC nuclear import and protein kinase A which blocks APC nuclear import. Lack of p38, in response to inhibitors or in Gadd45α-null cells, causes a disruption APC import and in increased levels of β -catenin, indicating a role for Gadd45 α , through the p38 MAPK pathway, in regulation of β -catenin (Hildesheim, J et al., 2005). Loss of Gadd45 α triggers increased levels of β-catenin, through loss of active APC complex, and leads to upregulation of MMPs. High levels of MMPs can lead to uncontrolled proliferation, metastasis, cell migration, which are vital processes in the oncogenic process (Hildesheim, J et al., 2005).

One of the roles of Gadd45 α in response to UV is modulation of the cell cycle. Gadd45a interacts with CR6-interacting factor 1 (CRIF1) to regulate the G₁/S cell cycle checkpoint (Chung, HK et al., 2003) and interacts with BRCA1 to maintain centrosome duplication and genetic stability (Wang, X et al., 2004). While overexpression of Gadd45α disrupts the subcellular localization of cyclin B1 to cause G_2M arrest (Jin, S et al., 2002), it has been shown that Gadd45 α does not interact with cyclin B1 directly, but interacts with Cdc2, inhibiting the Cdc2/Cylclin B1 complex, resulting in growth suppression (Jin, S et al., 2000; Zhan, Q et al., 1999). Gadd45 α -proficient cells can to inhibit Cdc2 and sequester Cdc2 in the cytoplasm to induce a G₂M check while Gadd45α-deficient cells have a defective G_2M checkpoint (Maeda, T et al., 2002). BRCA1 activation of Gadd45 α results in induction of G₂/M checkpoint in response to the antimicrotubule agents Taxol and Vincristine (Mullan, PB et al., 2001). Additional evidence for a role of Gadd45 α in cell cycle control exists in the fact that it interacts with p21 (Zhao, H et al., 2000), a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor that causes G1 and G2 arrest in p53-deficient cells (Cayrol, C et al., 1998).

GADD45α AND NER

The role of Gadd45 α in NER has yet to be defined. Gadd45 α can bind histones and modulate the accessibility of DNA on damaged chromatin (Carrier, F et al., 1999), however it is also thought that its effect on NER is related to interactions with PCNA (Smith, ML et al., 1994). It has been known for years that Gadd45 α 43 interacts with PCNA (Smith, ML et al., 1994). In a very preliminary study, it was shown that Gadd45 α is able to inhibit entry into S-phase and stimulate NER in vitro, binding to PCNA (Smith, ML et al., 1994). Gadd45α does not have a conserved PCNA binding domain, but Gadd45a binds tightly to residues 1-20, 61-80 and 196-215 on PCNA and is potentially able to bind in a stoichiometry of 2 Gadd45α molecules for each PCNA monomer (Hall, PA et al., 1995). Another study revealed that Gadd45a has a PCNA interacting domain at residues 137-165, and that Gadd45 α binds to the N-terminal (1-46) and middle (100-127) regions of PCNA. In the same study ectopic expression of a Gadd45 α N-terminal peptide, which lacked the PCNA binding domain, repressed colony formation and induced apoptosis more efficiently than full-length protein, while the C-terminal peptide, containing the PCNA binding domain, displayed decreased colony repression and apoptosis compared to full length protein. These results indicate that interaction of Gadd45a with PCNA impedes the negative growth control functions of Gadd45 α (Vairapandi, M et al., 2000). There is evidence that, even though they do not share binding sites, Gadd45a and p21 compete for binding to PCNA, and while p21 disrupts PCNA trimerization, Gadd45α has no effect (Chen, IT et al., 1995). Although it is not well described, there is evidence that PCNA accumulation in the nucleus is defective in Gadd45α-deficient cells post UVB damage (Smith, ML et al., 2000). In Gadd45a-deficient keratinocytes, the additional loss of p21 restores capacity for NER (Maeda, T et al., 2005). This finding supports Gadd45α as a recruiter of PCNA to damage sites (Smith, ML et

al., 2000). Additionally, in Gadd45 α -deficeint mouse keratinocytes, p21 levels are increased (Maeda, T et al., 2005) and may serve to inhibit loading of PCNA onto damage sites, resulting in a decreased capacity for NER in these cells. If Gadd45 α and p21 compete for PCNA accessibility and p21 inhibits NER when bound to PCNA, the loss of Gadd45 α could leave p21 free to inhibit PCNA binding to DNA in the resynthesis step of NER. Additional loss of p21 could relieve the inhibitory effect of p21 on NER.

Summary and Goals

It is apparent that Gadd45 α has many roles in cellular homeostatsis. With all the recent research into the roles of Gadd45 α , it is still unclear how it is involved in NER. It is known that Gadd45 α is involved in NER through interaction with PCNA, but there is very little known about this relationship. It is the goal of this project to look at how Gadd45 α affects DNA-bound PCNA. Because of a lack of reliable antibodies to Gadd45 α , it is very difficult to directly assess the role of Gadd45 α in various processes. In this study we will be using mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) proficient and deficient in *Gadd45\alpha* to evaluate the effects of Gadd45 α on DNA-bound PCNA. We will use confocal microscopy to evaluate the percent of DNA-bound PCNA positive cells in *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+}* and *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* MEFs. Since it is known that the Triton-X 100 resistant, (or DNA-bound) portion of PCNA is required for NER (Bouayadi, K et al., 1997), a novel method for 45

evaluating DNA-bound proteins in intact cells by flow cytometry using Triton X-100 was developed to replicate the confocal results and provide a faster, easier, less subjective method. Finally, DNA-bound PCNA and p21 were evaluated by western blotting.

Gadd45α Mouse Colony

Mice deficient in Gadd45a, previously generated by gene targeting (Hollander, MC et al., 1999), were obtained from Dr. Albert Fornace Jr, NCIC. Mice were earnotched at approximately 4 weeks of age for mouse identification and genotyping. Biopsies were digested in 100µL STE buffer (50mM Tris-HCl, 10mM EDTA, 100mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS) and 6µL Proteinase K (120µg) incubated overnight at 55°C. The reaction was stopped by incubating at 95°C for 10 minutes. Genotyping was performed as previously described (Hollander, MC et al., 1999) with modifications. The PCR mixture contained 1X PCR buffer without magnesium (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), 1.5µL MgCl₂ (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), 2.0µL dNTPs (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), 0.25µL primer CH215 (2.5pmol), 0.25µL primer CH217 (2.5pmol), 0.5µL primer CH216 (5.0 pmol), 1.0µL Taq polymerase (in house), 3µL 3/100 dilution of tissue digestion, and dH₂O to 25µL. Primers CH216 (5'-GAA GAC CTA GAC AGC ACG GTT-3') and CH215 (5'-CCT CGT CTT ACC TCT GCA CAA-3') amplify the 324bp wildtype DNA fragment, and the primers CH216 and CH217 (5'-GCA TGC TCC AGA CTG CCT T-3') amplify the 161bp mutant DNA fragment. The PCR machine was run on the following settings: 94°C for 180s, 94°C for 30s, 62°C for 30s, 72°C for 30s and cycling back to the second step (94°C for 30s) 38 times and hold at 4°C. Along with a 1kb Plus DNA ladder (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON,

47

Canada), PCR products were run on a 2% (w/v) agarose TAE gel with ethidium bromide gel and visualized with UV light (Figure 2-1).



Figure 2-1: Genotyping gel.

Typical *Gadd45a* genotyping 2% agarose gel with ethidium bromide. Wildtype band migrates to 324 bp, while the mutant (knockout) band migrates to 161 bp. The genotypes of the DNA samples are as indicated on the gel wildtype (wt), heterozygote (ht) or knockout (ko).

CREATION OF MEFS

Primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were created as follows. Embryos at E13.5 were removed from pregnant females, rinsed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), separated from placental tissue and rinsed twice more. Embryos were minced with frosted slides in 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes and neutralized with Dublecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS). The cell suspension was passed 48 through a 21 gauge needle to further separate the cells and allowed to settle for 10 minutes. Supernatant was cultured in DMEM with 20% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (P/S), incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂, for one passage and then frozen 10% DMSO to -80°C at a rate of -1°C/min before plunged into liquid nitrogen for long-term storage. After thawing, DMSO was removed from the MEFs by spinning and cells were resuspended and plated in DMEM with 20% FBS and 1% P/S. The pellet was digested in STE and Proteinase K and genotyped as described above. Experiments were done on cells on the 3rd or 4th passage.

Cell culture

IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE METHODS (CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY AND FLOW CYTOMETRY) Primary *Gadd45α^{+/+}* and *Gadd45α^{-/-}* MEFs were grown in p100 plates in phenolred free DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) supplemented with 20% FBS (Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA), 1% P/S (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) and 584.68mg/L L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂. This media was chosen to eliminate autofluorescence due to indicator presence. Cells were split by washing with PBS and treated trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. Trypsin was neutralized with 10% FBS and the suspension was transferred to a 15mL conical tube. The plates were rinsed twice with PBS, and the washes were added to the tubes. Cells were centrifuged at 1600rpm for 5 minutes to remove any indicator present in the trypsin, resuspended in phenol-red free DMEM with FBS, P/S and L-glycine, and plated onto new plates. If plating was for an experiment, cells were counted on a Z2 Dual Threshold Coulter Counter (Beckman-Coulter, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and were plated for 75 – 80% confluency on the appropriate plate or slide.

DNA-BOUND WESTERN BLOTTING

Primary $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs were grown in p100 plates (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) in DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS and 1% P/S and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were split by washing with PBS and treated trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. Trypsin was neutralized with 10% FBS and cells were plated onto new plates. If plating was for an experiment, cells were counted on a Z2 Dual Threshold Coulter Counter (Beckman-Coulter, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and were plated for 75 – 80% confluency on the p100 plates.

UVB irradiation

Plates or slides were washed twice with PBS and exposed to 200J/m² UVB (290-320nm) from a bank of six unfiltered UVB bulbs (FS20T12/UVB-BP, Light 50 Sources Inc., Orange CT), with the lids on. Following UVB irradiation, the correct DMEM with FBS, P/S (and L-glutamine, if required) was added. To measure the time needed to reach the correct dose of UVB, the culture dish lids were placed on top of an IL1700 radiometer with a SED 240/UVB-1/W detector (International Light, Newburyport, MA, USA). The intensity of the UVB source penetrating the culture dish lid was measured and used to calculate exposure time to obtain the correct dosage. Culture dish lids filtered out contaminating UVC radiation (Baross-Francis, A et al., 1998). Plates or slides were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ until the appropriate timepoint as described in Table 2-1.

		Doses and Timepoints		
Method	Genotypes	0J/m²	200J/m ²	Controls
a) Immunofluorescent Microscopy	Gadd45α ^{+/+} Gadd45α ^{-/-}	0h	0.5h, 0.75h, 1h, 2h, 4h	Total, Negative both (200J/m ² 1h)
b) Flow Cytometry	Gadd45α ^{+/+} Gadd45α ^{-/-}	0h	0.5h, 0.75h, 1h, 2h, 4h	Plain, Negative both (200J/m ² 1h)
c) Western Blotting	Gadd45α ^{+/+} Gadd45α ^{-/-}	0h	0.5h, 0.75h, 1h, 2h, 4h	Untreated, Amido Black stain (load)

Table 2-1: Experimental Design

Outline of UV dosage, timepoints and controls used in all experiments.

- a) Immunofluorescent Microscopy. Controls include a slide stained for total PCNA (positive control), and a negative control to judge the amount of background staining.
- b) Flow cytometry. Controls include a Plain Cell control to judge cellular integrity, and a negative control to eliminate background staining.
- c) Western Blotting. Controls include the untreated (0J/m² 0h) sample to standardize response and the Amido Black stain to control for loading.

Immunofluorescent Microscopy

Method adapted from (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995). To show the presence of DNA-bound PCNA, primary Gadd45 $a^{+/+}$ and Gadd45 $a^{-/-}$ MEFs were plated on 2-well slides (VWR, Mississauga, ON, Canada) coated with poly-Llysine (#P-5899, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) and treated with 200J/m² as described above. All washes were performed with PBS and were very gentle to minimize cell loss. At the appropriate timepoints, (Table 2-1) slides were gently washed two times with PBS and permeabilized with antibody buffer (PBS with 1% BSA and 0.2mg/mL EDTA) with 0.5% Triton X-100 for 15 minutes at 4°C to remove PCNA that is not bound to DNA. Slides were washed three times and fixed in 100% ice cold methanol at -80°C. Total control slides were fixed prior to permeablization. After washing three times, slides were incubated on a rocker for 1 hour at room temperature with primary PCNA antibody (PC10, #555566, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, ON, Canada) diluted to 1:100 in antibody buffer. Antibody buffer without primary antibody was used on negative control slides. Cells were washed three times and incubated on a rocker for 1 hour at room temperature with secondary goat-anti-mouse IgG2a-Alexa 488 antibody (#A21131, Molecular Probes/Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) diluted to 1:100 in antibody buffer. Cells were washed three times, wells were removed and slides were coverslipped with Vectashield (H-1200, Vector Laboratories Inc. Gurlingame, CA, USA). Slides were sealed with nail polish and blinded by a lab member. Slides were examined on Zeiss Axiovert 100M microscope coupled

52

with a Zeiss LSM510 laser scanning system (Carl Zeiss, Germany). Images were taken with a 40X plan-neofluar., n.a. 1.4 or 40X Plan-Neofluar n.a. 1.30) with a zoom factor of 1. Alexa-488 and Dapi staining was visualized with an Argon laser (ex: 488nm em) and a Coherent Mira-2 photon laser (ex: 780nm) respectively. Emission data were collected with LP560 and BP 390-465IR filters. Optical sections of field of 230.3µm x 230.3µm x 0.9µm with scanned and displayed as 512 x512 pixel images. Each slide was photographed repeatedly until a minimum of 200 cells were imaged. Images were counted for total number of cells (DAPI) and DNA-bound PCNA (Alexa 488) using Zeiss Image-pro software (Carl Zeiss, Germany). A minimum of 200 cells per genotype per timepoint were counted and numbers were imported into Microsoft Excel (Microsoft, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and un-blinded. This experiment was performed in triplicate.

Method Development: Flow Cytometry

Wild type MEFs were grown on p60 plates (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada), trypsinized and stored at -80°C in freezing media. Cells were thawed and treated with various concentrations of BSA and EDTA to find concentrations that eliminated cell agglutination. Final wash buffer consisted of PBS with 1% BSA and 0.2 mg/mL EDTA. Additional cells were fixed with 100% ice cold

methanol and 4% formaldehyde. As the methanol caused cell agglutination, formaldehyde was used in the final method.

Triton X-100 titrations were performed to eliminate cell destruction while eliminating non-DNA-bound PCNA. Cells were grown on glass coverslips (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) for confocal microscopy and p60 plates for flow cytometry. Cells on p60s were trypsinized and stored at -80°C in freezing media and thawed prior to experiments. Cells on coverslips were permeabilized immediately, while one coverslip was fixed with ice-cold methanol for 10 minutes at -20°C prior to permeablization. Various concentrations of Triton X-100 (0.5%, 0.4%, 0.3%, 0.2%, 0.1%, 0.05%) in wash buffer were incubated for 15 minutes at 4°C with the flow cytometry and confocal samples. Confocal coverslips were then fixed with ice-cold methanol, washed, incubated with antibodies and mounted on slides as described in the Immunofluorescent Microsocopy section. The only difference was that the cells grown on coverslips were mounted on slides rather than having the cells on the slides mounted with coverslips. Samples were viewed on the Zeiss Axiovert microscope as described above and analysed for elimination of non-DNA-bound PCNA. Flow cytometry samples were treated with the Triton X-100 titrations above in wash buffer for 15 minutes washed with 10mL wash buffer and spun at 300g for 5 minutes. Solution was aspirated from cells which were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 5 minutes and washed with 10mL wash buffer, spun at 300g for 5 minutes. Solution was

aspirated off and cells were resuspended in wash buffer and run on the FACS Calibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickenson, San Jose, CA, USA) to evaluate cell integrity with side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC). When the 15 minute incubations were not sufficient to maintain cellular integrity and eliminate non-DNA-bound PCNA, the experiments were repeated with 2 hour and overnight incubations at 4°C using various Triton X-100 concentrations (0.5%, 0.05%, 0.04%, 0.03%, 0.02%, 0.01%). It was determined that a permeablization buffer consisting of 0.03% Triton X-100 in wash buffer effectively eliminates non-DNA-bound PCNA while maintaining cellular integrity.

Flow cytometry

Gadd45a^{+/+} and *Gadd45a*^{-/-} MEFs were plated on p60 plates (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) and treated with 200J/m² as described above. At the appropriate timepoints (Table 2-1), plates were washed two times with PBS and treated trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. Trypsin was neutralized with 10% FBS and the suspension was transferred to a 15mL conical tube. The plates were washed twice with PBS, and the washes were added to the tubes. Cells were pelleted at 1600rpm for 5 minutes, resuspended in 250µL of freezing media (phenol-red free DMEM with FBS, P/S, L-glycine and 10% DMSO) and stored at -80°C. Cell pellets were thawed and resuspended in wash buffer (PBS with 1% BSA and 0.2mg/mL EDTA) containing 0.03% Triton X-100 55

for 2 hours at 4°C to remove PCNA not bound to DNA. The plain control was incubated in wash buffer without Triton X-100 to maintain intact cells. All washes were performed by adding 10mL of wash buffer and centrifuging at 300g for 5 minutes. Cells were washed once and fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 5 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed once and resuspended in primary PCNA antibody PC10, #555566, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, ON, Canada) diluted to 1:100 in wash buffer and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with occasional agitation. Negative control and plain control tubes were incubated with wash buffer without primary antibody. Cells were washed three times and incubated with secondary goat anti-mouse IgG2a-Alexa 488 antibody (#A21131, Molecular Probes/Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) diluted to 1:100 in wash buffer for 1 hour at room temperature with occasional agitation. Plain control was incubated in wash buffer without secondary antibody. Cells were washed three times, resuspended in 600µL wash buffer and taken to a FACS Calibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickenson, San Jose, CA, USA) with a 488nm laser; Alexa488 was measured with a bandpass filter at 530/30nm. 20,000 cells were counted on all samples and analysis was performed using CellQuest software (Becton Dickenson, San Jose, CA, USA). After background fluorescence was eliminated using the negative control, numbers were entered into Microsoft Excel to generate percent positivity. This experiment was performed in triplicate.

Cell lysis / Quantification

Method adapted from (Savio, M et al., 1996). Following the experimental design (Table 2-1), cells were trypsinized, pelleted and frozen at -80°C in 1.5mL microcentrifuge tubes. Cell pellets were resuspended in 200µL hypotonic lysis buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 2.5mM MgCl₂, 1x protease inhibitor (Complete Mini, Roche, Laval, PQ, Canada), 0.5% Triton X-100) and incubated on ice for 8 minutes. Lysed cells were spun at 14,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C and lysates (soluble or non-DNA-bound proteins) were removed to new tube, but were not used in the experiments. Pellets were resuspended in 100µL digestion buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 10mM NaCl, 5mM MgCl₂, and 1x protease inhibitor) containing 400U DNAse I (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada). The digestion was completed at 37°C for 1h and stopped by adding EDTA to a final concentration of 10mM and chilling on ice. Samples were cleared by centrifugation at 14,000g for 5 minutes and supernatant (insoluble or DNA-bound proteins) was removed to a fresh tube and stored at -80°C. Protein concentrations were determined using a detergent compatible protein assay (BioRadDC, Hercules, CA).

SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis / Western blots

Equal amounts (20-30µg) of DNA-bound protein were separated by discontinuous SDS-PAGE gels (7.5% stacking gel, 12% separating gel) using standard protocols. Proteins were transferred to 0.45µm Immobilon-P PVDF membrane (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) in Tris/glycine buffer. Membranes were blocked in 4% skim milk in TBST (20mM Tris, 137mM NaCl, 0.001%) Tween20, pH 7.6), rocked at room temperature for 1 h. Primary antibodies incubated in 4% skim milk in TBST according to manufacturer's instructions, rocked at 4°C overnight at the following concentrations: PCNA (#610115, BD Transduction Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada) 1:5000, p21 (#556431, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, ON, Canada) 1:1000. After washing 3 times for 5 minutes with TBST, membranes were incubated with IgG HRP-conjugated goatanti-mouse secondary antibody (#554002, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, ON) at a 1:2500 dilution for 1 hour rocking at room temperature. Following, secondary antibody, membranes were washed with TBST 3 times for 5 minutes. Following washing, the blots were incubated in luminal solution (recipe) for 5 minutes and exposed to autoradiograph film for 10 seconds to 5 minutes. Densitometry was performed using Quantity One software (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Protein levels were normalized back to loading control (amido black stain) and a ratio calculated using normalized values comparing all timepoints to $Gadd45a^{++}$ untreated protein.

Statistics

All statistics were performed on Microsoft Excel. The student t-test was used with unequal variance for all statistical analyses. One-tailed analysis was used to test the hypothesis that the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* MEFs have a higher level of DNA-bound PCNA than the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* samples at each timepoint on both the immunofluorescent microscopy (IFM) and flow cytometry (FC) data. The UV response was evaluated using a one-tailed analysis to test the hypothesis that there was more DNA-bound PCNA at 1h post-UVB than in the untreated cells for each genotype by the IFM and FC methods. The hypothesis that there was no difference in the response curves of the two genotypes was also tested using a two-tailed test on the IFM and FC methods. A two-tailed analysis tested the hypothesis that there was no difference in the response curves of the response curves between the IFM and FC methods. A two-tailed analysis tested the hypothesis that there was no difference in the response curves between the IFM and FC methods.

Chapter 3 +Gadd45α and DNA-bound PCNA: Immunofluorescent Analysis.

Introduction

PCNA plays a major role in many cellular functions, including DNA repair. PCNA binds to DNA very early in response to UV damage, with a peak at 15 - 30 minutes post UVC-irradiation (Savio, M et al., 1996). Early binding of PCNA to DNA post UVC-damage is indicative of NER by immunofluorescent microscopy (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995). Gadd45 α plays a role in NER, presumably through interactions with PCNA, although this remains unclear (Smith, ML et al., 1994). We propose that the loss of Gadd45 α will decrease the amount of DNA-bound PCNA in response of UVB. To test this hypothesis, we analyzed the early PCNA-response to 200J/m² of UVB in *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+}* and *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* MEFs by immunofluorescent microscopy. To confirm our results, we developed a method for assessing DNA-bound PCNA positivity in intact cells by flow cytometry.

Immunofluorescent Microscopy Results

To evaluate the effect of Gadd45 α on DNA-bound PCNA, immunofluorescent microscopy was performed as previously described (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995) with some modifications. The PCNA response in *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+} and*

Gadd45a^{-/-} MEFs was evaluated by counting the total number of cells and the number of PCNA positive cells at various timepoints post-UV irradiation. The percentages of PCNA positive cells were compared at each timepoint and graphed (Figure 3-2). There is a statistically significant increase from 28% baseline positivity to 35% positivity of DNA-bound PCNA at 1h post-UVB irradiation in the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* MEFs (p-value <0.05). In contrast, there is no PCNA response in the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs. In addition, when the 1h induction of PCNA was compared with each genotype, the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* MEFs had a statistically significant response (p-value <0.05) while the *Gadd45a^{+/-}* MEFs did not (p-value 0.15). When the response curves of the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* and *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs are compared, there is a statistical difference with a p-value <0.00001. Previous studies show that there is an increased level of total p21 in Gadd45a^{-deficient} keratinocytes (Maeda, T et al., 2005). This could result in growth suppression in the *Gadd45a*-deficient cells leading to a lower level of PCNA, as is seen in the IFM results.


Figure 3-1: Examples of IFM images

Photomicrographs of immunofluorescent microscopy of DNA-bound PCNA pre- and post-irradiation with 200J/m² UVB. Images of 200 cells per timepoint were taken and total cells, represented by DAPI staining (blue), and DNA-bound PCNA positive cells, as indicated by Alexa-488 secondary staining (green) were counted on blinded samples. After blinding was removed, percentage of PCNA positive cells was calculated. The experiment was performed in triplicate. The red arrows indicate positive cells. The presence of background staining made these slides difficult to count, but was unavoidable as we were using an anti-mouse secondary antibody on mouse cells.



Figure 3-2: Graph of DNA-bound PCNA in $Gadd45\alpha$ wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage assayed by Immunofluorescent Microscopy (IFM)

 $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs on glass slides were treated with 200J/m² of UVB, harvested and permeabilized to remove non-DNA-bound PCNA. Slides were stained with anti-PCNA and Alexa 488-conjugated secondary antibody and counterstained with DAPI. Slides were imaged on a confocal microscope and total cells were counted based on DAPI staining and PCNA positive cells were counted based on Alexa 488 staining. Statistical difference with a p-values of <0.05 is apparent at 1h and 4h after UVB-irradiation between $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs. The $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ MEFs have an increase of DNA-bound PCNA at 1h post-UVB decreasing by 4h. $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs do not display a PCNA response to UVB irradiation. The response curves of the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs are statistically different with a p-value of <0.05. Graph represents mean and SD of three experiments.

There are problems associated with this method. It is extremely time consuming taking more than 20h at a microscope to image the cells and a similar amount of time to manually count the cells on a computer. Additionally, there is background staining as we used mouse cells with a goat-anti-mouse secondary antibody. The manual assessment of PCNA staining leads to a limited total number of cells counted, and a certain degree of subjectivity. Because of these limitations, we wanted to convert this method to be run on a flow cytometry to increase the number of cells counted and decrease interference of background staining.

Flow Cytometry Results

WORK-UP OF FLOW CYTOMETRY METHOD

The work-up of the IFM method for flow cytometry was a challenging technical feat. First of all, MEFs have a tendency to agglutinate. The original wash buffer, PBS, caused complete aggregation of the MEFs which prevented them from being run on the flow cytometer. EDTA and BSA were added and adjusted to obtain an optimal wash buffer. Different fixatives were tried as well. 100% ice cold methanol caused agglutination of the MEFs while 4% formaldehyde did not (data not shown).

Flow cytometry of PCNA has been reported, (Table 3-1) however, in these studies NP-40 was used as a permeablization agent, and the extracts were primarily nuclei extracts. When we applied the use of NP-40 to our confocal method during work-up, a lot of interfering staining was observed (Figure 3-3) decreasing our confidence in using this method. In addition, we wanted to keep the method as similar as possible to the IFM and, to do so, used Triton X-100 as the permeabilizing agent. The first experiments included the "standard" dose of Triton X-100 at 0.05% as used in the IFM experiments. However, we were unable to analyze the cells as the nuclei were too small to analyze on the FACS Calibur, so we were forced to develop a method to utilize intact cells.

CELL TYPE	ANTIBODY			DETERGENT	REFERENCE
Chinese hamster fibroblasts	PC10	Nuclei	hypotonic	NP-40	(Wilson, GD et al., 1992)
Human embryonic lung fibroblasts	Not indicated	Nuclei	hypotonic	NP-40	(Prosperi, E et al., 1994)
Human fibroblasts (skin)	PC10	Not indicated	hypotonic	NP-40	(Prosperi, E et al., 1993)

Table 3-1: Flow cytometry analysis of PCNA

Previous studies that looked at PCNA by flow cytometry. Note that all the studies used NP-40 as the permeabilizing detergent, and the majority were analyzing nuclei instead of intact cells. Not all of the information was present in the papers as is specified by "not indicated" in the table.



Figure 3-3: NP-40 treatment of MEFs for PCNA IFM

Since NP-40 has been extensively used for permeablization for flow cytometry, we tried using it instead of Triton X-100 for IFM. This photomicrograph depicts PCNA positive (green) cells and total (blue) cells. Because of the unusual background fluorescence with NP-40, so it was not used for our flow cytometry method.

As intact cells were required for flow cytometry a percentage of Triton X-100 that would maintain cellular integrity and eliminate non-DNA-bound PCNA was required. Titrations of Triton X-100 were assessed by both IFM, to evaluate presence of non-DNA-bound PCNA, and flow cytometry to assess cellular integrity. The first experiments used a 15 minute incubation with various amounts of Triton X-100 and viewed by confocal microscopy (Figure 3-4) and flow cytometry (data not shown). The 15 minute incubation was not sufficient to eliminate non-DNA-bound PCNA at levels low enough to maintain cellular integrity, as the 0.05% titration IFM image displayed PCNA positivity in all cells,

similar to the total PCNA control. An additional experiment with a 2 hour incubation with Triton X-100 was performed. Analysis by confocal microscopy (Figure 3-5) revealed that a concentration of Triton X-100 as low as 0.01% was sufficient to eliminate non-DNA-bound PCNA. As flow cytometry showed that Triton X-100 as high as 0.03% could maintain cellular integrity with a 2 hour incubation

Figure 3-6), we opted to use 0.03% Triton X-100 for the DNA-bound flow cytometry method.



Figure 3-4: Triton X-100 Titrations; 15 minute Permeabilization Treatment

Photomicrographs of MEFs were grown on glass coverslips, permeabilized with various Triton X-100 titrations for 15 minutes at 4°C and stained with PCNA (green) counterstained with DAPI (blue). A) Total PCNA: Cells were fixed prior to permeabilization. All cells are positive for PCNA. B) 0.5% Triton X-100 treatment. This is the standard treatment used for confocal microscopy. Not all of the cells exhibit PCNA positivity, displaying the elimination of non-DNA-bound PCNA. C) 0.1% Triton X-100 treatment. Results are similar to the 0.5% treatment; only some of the cells display PCNA positivity, indicating the elimination of non-DNA-bound PCNA. D) 0.05% Triton X-100 treatment. All cells are positive for PCNA. Non-DNA-bound PCNA has not been eliminated. This treatment is not sufficient for elimination of non-DNA.



Figure 3-5: Triton X-100 Titrations; 2 hour Permeabilization Treatment

Photomicrographs of MEFs were grown on glass coverslips, permeabilized with various Triton X-100 titrations for 2 hours at 4°C and stained with PCNA (green) counterstained with DAPI (blue). A) Total PCNA: Cells were fixed prior to permeabilization. All cells are positive for PCNA. B) 0.05% Triton X-100 treatment. Not all of the cells display PCNA positivity, demonstrating the elimination of non-DNA-bound PCNA. C) 0.01% Triton X-100 treatment. Results are similar to the 0.05% treatment; only some of the cells display PCNA positivity, indicating the elimination of non-DNA-bound PCNA. Triton X-100 concentrations between 0.05% and 0.01% incubated for 2 hours are sufficient for eliminating non-DNA-bound PCNA.



Figure 3-6: Triton X-100 Titrations; 2 hour Permeabilization Treatment

MEFs were treated with Triton X-100 titrations for 2 hours at 4°C and were run on the FACS Calibur for Side Scatter (SSC) and Forward Scatter (FSC) to evaluate cellular integrity. An untreated control (no Triton X-100) was used to assess intact cells. The intact cells were gated (shown by the black circle labelled R1) and any cells falling in this region are considered intact. Fragmented cells display a more vertical presentation as is evident in the 0.05% and 0.04% Triton X-100 concentrations. Triton X-100 concentrations between 0.01% and 0.03% incubated for 2 hours can maintain cellular integrity. The 0.03% Triton X-100 was used for all following experiments as indicated by the blue box.

FLOW CYTOMETRY RESULTS

The new method for assessing DNA-bound proteins by flow cytometry was performed on $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs in triplicate. Background fluorescence was removed by gating and the percentage of PCNA positive cells 70

was determined. Similar to the IFM results, the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ MEFs displayed an increase from 29% baseline to 34% positivity of DNA-bound PCNA at 1h post-UVB irradiation with 200J/m² (Figure 3-7), however this increase was not statistically significant. However, when statistical analyses were run between the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs at each timepoint, the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ MEFs had a statistically higher amount of DNA-bound PCNA at 0.5h and 1h post-UVB (p-value <0.05). Similar to the IFM method, the $Gadd45a^{+/-}$ cells do not have an early PCNA response. The response curves of the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs were statistically different with a p-value <0.05.

To validate the results of the flow cytometry method, they were compared back to the from the original IFM results. Both sets of results were graphed and statistical analysis using a two-tiered t-test was performed. When the two graphs are superimposed the similarities of the two sets of results are striking (Figure 3-8). There was no statistical difference between the IFM and FC PCNA response curve in either the *Gadd45a*^{+/+} (p-value=0.20) or *Gadd45a*^{-/-} (p-value=0.52) MEFs. This suggests that the two methods achieve similar results, and that the FC method for analyzing DNA-bound proteins can be used in place of the IFM method.



Figure 3-7: Graph of DNA-bound PCNA in *Gadd45* α wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage assayed by Flow Cytometry (FC).

 $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs were treated with 200J/m² of UVB, harvested and permeabilized to remove non-DNA-bound PCNA. Cells were stained with anti-PCNA and Alexa 488-conjugated secondary antibody and run on a FACS Calibur. After eliminating background staining, the percentage of DNA-bound PCNA positive cells was determined. No statistical difference was seen at individual timepoints between $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs. The $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ MEFs have a moderate increase of DNA-bound PCNA at 1h posttreatment with 200J/m² of UVB and are decreasing by 4h. $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs do not display a PCNA response to UVB damage. The response curves of the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs are statistically different with a p-value of <0.00001. Graph represents mean and SD of three experiments.



Figure 3-8: Comparison of Immunofluorescent Microscopy (IFM) and Flow Cytometry (FC) Graphs of DNA-bound PCNA in *Gadd45a* wt and ko MEFs in response to UVB damage.

The new method for evaluating DNA-bound PCNA by flow cytometry and the standard method of immunofluorescence microscopy were graphed together and compared by statistical analysis. There is no statistical difference between the IFM and FC wt response curves or the IFM and FC ko response curves, indicating that the methods are comparable.

Conclusions

Our results show that there is an early PCNA-response after 200J/m² of UVB-

damage in wild type MEFs. The response is rapid, with a peak of 35% of cells 73

with PCNA-induction at 1h post UVB exposure, and a decline to baseline of 28% by 2h, and is confirmed by both immunofluorescent microscopy and flow cytometry. In contrast, both methods showed that there is no early PCNA-response in the *Gadd45a* knock-out MEFs. As indicated previously, the presence of increased levels of p21 in Gadd45a-deficient mouse cells may result in growth suppression in these cells. This could lead to the decreased levels of PCNA seen in the absence of Gadd45a. Our results indicate that Gadd45a is largely responsible for the early PCNA DNA binding event post UVB as verified by two independent methods. This correlates well with previous data that indicates that Gadd45a may play a role in recruiting PCNA onto DNA (Smith, ML et al., 2000). Since it has been shown that the early PCNA response is indicative of NER (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995), the lack of PCNA response in the Gadd45a-deficient cells may indicate a loss of NER.

Chapter 4 ♦Gadd45α and DNA-bound PCNA and p21: Western Blot Analysis

Introduction

The interaction of p21 with PCNA is perhaps the most extensively studied PCNA interaction (Warbrick, E, 2000). p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, was first described in 1993 (Harper, JW et al., 1993). It is a p53-dependent protein that is involved in many cellular functions including the G_1 and G_2 cell cycle checkpoints, quiescence, terminal differentiation (Maeda, T et al., 2002; Stivala, LA and Prosperi, E, 2004) and apoptosis (Dong, C et al., 2005).

While there is general agreement that the interaction of p21 with PCNA inhibits DNA-replication (Li, R et al., 1994; Pan, ZQ et al., 1995; Shivji, MK et al., 1994; Waga, S et al., 1994), there is conflicting evidence on how the interaction of p21 with PCNA affects DNA repair. Inhibition of PCNA functions has been indicated by many pathways. In vitro, p21 prevents PCNA-dependent replication by interfering with many other PCNA-protein interactions including RFC (Oku, T et al., 1998; Waga, S and Stillman, B, 1998) DNApolō (Podust, VN et al., 1995), and FEN1 (Chen, U et al., 1996). p21 can also interfere with the interaction of PCNA with DNA repair factors involved in NER (Gary, R et al., 1997; Maga, G et al., 2004), which effectively inhibits the resynthesis step of NER (Pan, ZQ et al., 1995; Shivji, MK et al., 1998). One of the groups that demonstrated that p21 has no effect on PCNA-regulated DNA-repair (Shivji, MK et al., 1994), has more

recently shown that p21 can block polymerase binding to PCNA, effectively inhibiting NER (Shivji, MK et al., 1998). p21-null cells display DNA-bound PCNA at a similar level, but for a longer time than in the wild type cells. These same cells display defective NER, indicating a role for p21 in NER at a point after PCNA resynthesis (Stivala, LA et al., 2001). Additional evidence indicates that binding of p21 to DNA coincides with the removal of PCNA from DNA repair sites (Savio, M et al., 1996; Stivala, LA et al., 2001). This dichotomy of NER is also true for in vivo studies, with some in favour of p21-inhibition (Cooper, MP et al., 1999), and some against it (Li, R et al., 1996). In vivo and in vitro studies show that p21 interacts with PCNA during post-damage events and, although, the presence of p21 does not inhibit PCNA-dependent NER, it does inhibit replication (Li, R et al., 1996; Li, R et al., 1994).

Ubiquitin plays an important role in the p21-PCNA interaction. Increased PCNAubiquitination occurs in response to UV irradiation, hydroxyurea, aphidicolin and MMS, all of which down-regulate p21 expression (Soria, G et al., 2006). p21 inhibits the ubiquitination of PCNA, which is necessary for adequate DNA-repair function of PCNA (Soria, G et al., 2006), indicating that p21 is inhibitive of DNA repair. Additionally, high levels of p21, as well as association of p21 with PCNA have been shown to protect p21 from proteasomal degradation (Cayrol, C and Ducommun, B, 1998). To further elucidate the role of Gadd45α on DNA-bound PCNA and to confirm our IFM and FC data, we ran DNA-bound western blots and probed with PCNA and p21. We altered the method of (Savio, M et al., 1996) to use Triton X-100 instead of NP-40 in the hypotonic lysis.

Results

In this study the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs have a higher level of DNA-bound p21 in untreated cells (Figure 4-1). This is complementary to previous experiments in our lab that show increased levels of whole-cell p21 in *Gadd45a^{-/-}* murine keratinocytes (Maeda, T et al., 2005). At 1h post-UVB p21 levels are increased in the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs, but by 4h this relationship reverses with the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* MEFs showing increased levels of p21. *Gadd45a^{+/+}* and *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs display a similar DNA-bound PCNA response in untreated cells (0J/m²) and at 0.5h. At 0.75h, 1.0h, 2.0h and 4.0h, the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* cells have higher levels of PCNA over the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs. The initial increased levels of p21 in the *Gadd45a^{-/-}* MEFs indicates growth inhibition and correlates with decreased PCNA in these cells, while the *Gadd45a^{+/+}* MEFs display lower initial levels of p21 with increased levels of PCNA, indicating a role of Gadd45a^{-/-} in regulating the early DNA-binding response of PCNA and in inhibition of p21 DNA-binding.



Figure 4-1: DNA-bound Western Blot

Response of DNA-bound PCNA and p21 in $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs in response to UVB-irradiation. $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ and $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs were treated with 200J/m² of UVB, harvested, treated to remove non-DNA-bound PCNA and digested with DNAse I to release DNA-bound proteins. Proteins were run on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel, probed with anti-PCNA, anti-p21 and anti-HRP secondary antibodies and exposed to film. All lanes were normalized to amido black staining for loading and standardized to untreated $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ samples. (a) Western Blot image. (b and c) Graphs of the PCNA (b) and p21 (c) western blot data for easier visualization of trends. DNA-bound PCNA increases in the $Gadd45a^{+/+}$ MEFs to a maximum at 2h. $Gadd45a^{-/-}$ MEFs do not display an early PCNA response but increase at 4h post-UVB damage. Experiment was performed in triplicate, but graphs are representative of a single experiment due to lack of standardization between blots.

Conclusions

If Gadd45 α and p21 compete for PCNA accessibility (Chen, IT et al., 1995) and p21 inhibits NER when bound to PCNA (Cooper, MP et al., 1999), the loss of Gadd45 α would leave p21 free to inhibit the resynthesis step of NER. This hypothesis may explain the increased levels of p21 and decreased PCNA in the *Gadd45\alpha*-deficient cells at early timepoints, indicating our results are consistent with ineffective NER in the absence of *Gadd45\alpha*. Our *Gadd45\alpha*-proficient MEFs display lower initial levels of p21 with increased levels of PCNA. These results, taken with those in the *Gadd45\alpha*-deficient cells, indicate a role for Gadd45 α in regulating the early DNA-binding response of PCNA and in inhibition of p21 DNA-binding. Our findings support a role for Gadd45 α in competing with p21 for PCNA binding (Chen, IT et al., 1995). The increase of p21 in the *Gadd45\alpha*-proficient cells at 2h may represent the disassembly of PCNA at DNA repair sites as previously reported (Savio, M et al., 1996).

Chapter 5 •Discussion and Future Directions

The cellular response to DNA damage is vital to organism survival. Multiple proteins collaborate to generate different cellular pathways to determine cellular outcome. The functions of many of the proteins that orchestrate these pathways have yet to be elucidated. Gadd45α is known to play important roles in numerous responses to DNA damage, including cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and NER.

PCNA has many functions in response to various stresses and cellular signals, including DNA repair. PCNA is bound to DNA very soon after UV damage, with a peak at 15 – 30 minutes post UVC-irradiation (Savio, M et al., 1996). Early binding of PCNA to DNA is indicative of NER by immunofluorescent microscopy (Aboussekhra, A and Wood, RD, 1995). Evidence provided by *Gadd45a*-null cells prove that Gadd45 α plays a role in NER (Smith, ML et al., 2000), presumably through interactions with PCNA, although these interactions remain unclear (Smith, ML et al., 1994). To elucidate the effect of Gadd45 α on DNA-bound PCNA, we analyzed *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+}* and *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* MEFs for the early UVB-induced PCNA-response by immunofluorescent microscopy and confirmed our results by a novel method for viewing DNA-bound PCNA by flow cytometry in intact cells.

The immunofluorescent microscopy data indicates that there is no early PCNAresponse in the absence of Gadd45 α . Although the response in the *Gadd45\alpha^{+/+}* MEFs is not large, it is significantly greater than the knockout cell lines (Figure 3-2). These data are confirmed by the flow cytometry results (Figure 3-7). Although previous data show an increase of PCNA maximally at 30 minutes post UV damage (Savio, M et al., 1996), we show a maximal increase at 1h. This finding may be due to the difference in cell type and UV type; Savio et al. used 20J/m² UVC on human fibroblasts, where as we use 200J/m² UVB on MEFs. Our data indicate that the presence of Gadd45 α enables PCNA to bind more readily to DNA at early time-points after UV damage.

The p21-PCNA interaction is one of the most studied of the PCNA interactions (Warbrick, E, 2000). There is controversy on how this interaction affects replication and repair. Some studies indicate that the binding of p21 to PCNA inhibits replication while some studies indicate that p21 inhibits DNA repair (Pan, ZQ et al., 1995; Savio, M et al., 1996) and replication (Li, R et al., 1994; Maga, G et al., 2004; Shivji, MK et al., 1994; Waga, S et al., 1994), while others disagree (Li, R et al., 1996; Li, R et al., 1994; Shivji, MK et al., 1994). Although there is controversy in the function of the p21-PCNA interaction, we analysed the DNA-bound protein in *Gadd45a*^{+/+} and *Gadd45a*^{-/-} MEFs for the presence of p21 and PCNA. While previous studies used NP-40 in the hypotonic lysis, we found that

NP-40 did not eliminate DNA-bound proteins. We used Triton X-100 to keep the method as similar as possible to our immunofluorescence studies.

The *Gadd45a*-deficient MEFs displayed no PCNA response to UVB irradiation, confirming our immunofluorescent studies. We found a constitutively increased amount of DNA-bound p21 in the untreated *Gadd45a*-deficient MEFs compared to the *Gadd45a*-proficient cells, which corroborates previous studies that found a higher amount of whole cell p21 protein in *Gadd45a*-deficient over *Gadd45a*-proficient murine keratinocytes (Maeda, T et al., 2005). In these cells, the p21 levels stay elevated throughout the first hour post-UVB treatment. By the 4h timepoint, the p21 levels *Gadd45a*-proficient MEFs have increased above those of the *Gadd45a*-deficient MEFs.

Previous studies have suggested that Gadd45 α and p21 compete for PCNA accessibility (Chen, IT et al., 1995) and that p21 inhibits NER when bound to PCNA (Cooper, MP et al., 1999). These studies indicate the loss of Gadd45 α would leave p21 free to inhibit the resynthesis step of NER and may partly explain the increased levels of p21 and decreased PCNA in the *Gadd45\alpha*-deficient cells at early timepoints. Our *Gadd45\alpha*-proficient MEFs display lower initial levels of p21 with increased levels of PCNA. These results, taken with those in the *Gadd45\alpha*-deficient cells, indicate a role for Gadd45 α in regulating the early DNA-binding response of PCNA and in inhibition of p21 DNA-binding.

Previous evidence indicates that p21 binds to DNA at later timepoints and functions to remove PCNA from DNA-repair sites (Savio, M et al., 1996). The Western blotting data supports this; the increase of p21 at 2h to 4h in our *Gadd45a*-proficient cells may be functioning to remove the PCNA, which decreases after the 2h timepoint. This data also supports a role for Gadd45 α in competing with p21 for PCNA binding (Chen, IT et al., 1995). The peak increase timepoint is different from our immunofluorescence data, but the two methods are measuring different things. The immunofluorescence studies measured the percentage of cells that displayed DNA-bound positivity, while the western method is measuring the total amount of PCNA bound to DNA.

Since there is such debate about the role of p21 in PCNA-dependent DNA repair, the DNA-bound western blots could be used to further elucidate the role of both p21 and Gadd45 α on the DNA-bound PCNA. Repeating these experiments with additional antibodies, such as FEN1 or other replication or repair specific antibodies should elucidate the role the increase in p21 is playing in our *Gadd45\alpha^{-/-}* MEFs. All of our results indicate that Gadd45 α is involved in early DNA-binding of PCNA. As PCNA is monoubiquitinated in repair (Huang, TT et al., 2006; Solomon, DA et al., 2004), it would be interesting to determine the presence of ubiquitin on the DNA-bound Western blots. Additionally, our experiments should be repeated on different mouse genotypes, including *p21*-

knock out, *p53*-knock out, *Gadd45a/p21*-double knock out, and *Gadd45a/p53*double knock out in both MEFs and keratinocytes, to illuminate the roles the different combinations of protein removal. To see the effect of the lack of Gadd45 α on DNA-bound PCNA in human cells, this experiment should be performed on primary human keratinocytes with *Gadd45\alpha* knocked-down by siRNA.

The development of the flow cytometry method was an important development in my thesis. Previous methods used NP-40 to lyse the cells and rid them of non-DNA bound proteins (Prosperi, E et al., 1994; Prosperi, E et al., 1993; Wilson, GD et al., 1992). However, here NP-40 lysis prior to in immunofluorescence microscopy resulted in unusual staining, coupled with the inability to remove non-DNA bound protein (Figure 3-3). Additionally, flow cytometry was unable to analyze nuclear extracts due to the small size of our MEF nuclei. These problems led to the analysis of DNA-bound proteins in intact cells using Triton X-100 as the permeabilizing agent. We demonstrate, for the first time, that it is possible to use a lower level of Triton X-100 with a longer incubation to effectively remove all soluble proteins (Figure 3-5) and leave the cells intact (Figure 3-6). When this method is compared to the standard immunofluorescent microscopy method, the curves are remarkably similar with no statistical difference between the two methods (Figure 3-8).

84

Flow cytometry has many benefits over immunofluorescent microscopy. First, the cell treatment and collection is quicker and easier. Cells can be frozen and used later allowing all timepoints to be processed simultaneously. The staining and fixation protocol is more rapid and many more cells are counted. Future applications of this method include using additional antibodies to help elucidate the PCNA response as replication or repair. These antibodies could include p21 and FEN1. Additionally, to get a more physiologic view, this experiment should be repeated on mouse keratinocytes, or on human keratinocytes that have *Gadd45a* knocked down by siRNA. To further clarify the role of various proteins in this process, different mouse colonies can be used including p21-knock out, p53-knock out, *Gadd45a/p21*-double knock out, and *Gadd45a/p53*-double knock out, which can be used with both fibroblasts and keratinocytes using this method.

In summary, we developed a novel method of analysing DNA-bound PCNA in intact cells by flow cytometry. Using this method, along with established methods of studying DNA-bound PCNA by immunofluorescent microscopy and Western blotting, we have established a potential role for Gadd45α in regulating the early DNA-binding events of PCNA. The flow cytometry method could be used to analyse additional proteins to further elucidate this or other pathways. The broad application of this method to nuclear protein analysis should prove to be a very useful tool.

REFERENCES

- (2005). www.who.int. World Health Organization.
- (2005). Cancer Statistics. National Cancer Institute of Canada.National Cancer Institute of Canada, Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics Canada, Provincial/Territorial Cancer Registries, Public Health Agency of Canada.
- ABOUSSEKHRA, A, BIGGERSTAFF, M, et al. (1995). "Mammalian DNA Nucleotide Excision Repair Reconstituted with Purified Protein Components." <u>Cell</u> **80**(6): 859-68.
- ABOUSSEKHRA, A and WOOD, RD (1995). "Detection of Nucleotide Excision Repair Incisions in Human Fibroblasts by Immunostaining for Pcna." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> 221(2): 326-32.
- ABRAMIC, M, LEVINE, AS, et al. (1991). "Purification of an Ultraviolet-Inducible, Damage-Specific DNA-Binding Protein from Primate Cells." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 266(33): 22493-500.
- AN, W, KIM, J, et al. (2004). "Ordered Cooperative Functions of Prmt1, P300, and Carm1 in Transcriptional Activation by P53." <u>Cell</u> **117**(6): 735-48.
- BALAJEE, AS and BOHR, VA (2000). "Genomic Heterogeneity of Nucleotide Excision Repair." <u>Gene</u> **250**(1-2): 15-30.
- BALAJEE, AS, MAY, A, et al. (1998). "Efficient Pcna Complex Formation Is Dependent Upon Both Transcription Coupled Repair and Genome Overall Repair." <u>Mutat</u> <u>Res</u> 409(3): 135-46.
- BAROSS-FRANCIS, A, ANDREW, SE, et al. (1998). "Tumors of DNA Mismatch Repair-Deficient Hosts Exhibit Dramatic Increases in Genomic Instability." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> 95(15): 8739-43.
- BARSYTE-LOVEJOY, D, MAO, DY, et al. (2004). "C-Myc Represses the Proximal Promoters of Gadd45a and Gadd153 by a Post-Rna Polymerase Ii Recruitment Mechanism." <u>Oncogene</u> 23(19): 3481-6.
- BATTY, DP and WOOD, RD (2000). "Damage Recognition in Nucleotide Excision Repair of DNA." <u>Gene</u> **241**(2): 193-204.
- BESSHO, T, SANCAR, A, et al. (1997). "Reconstitution of Human Excision Nuclease with Recombinant Xpf-Ercc1 Complex." J Biol Chem 272(6): 3833-7.

- BISHOP, AJ, HOLLANDER, MC, et al. (2003). "Atm-, P53-, and Gadd45a-Deficient Mice Show an Increased Frequency of Homologous Recombination at Different Stages During Development." <u>Cancer Res</u> **63**(17): 5335-43.
- BOHR, VA, SMITH, CA, et al. (1985). "DNA Repair in an Active Gene: Removal of Pyrimidine Dimers from the Dhfr Gene of Cho Cells Is Much More Efficient Than in the Genome Overall." <u>Cell</u> **40**(2): 359-69.
- BOUAYADI, K, VAN DER LEER-VAN HOFFEN, A, et al. (1997). "Enzymatic Activities Involved in the DNA Resynthesis Step of Nucleotide Excision Repair Are Firmly Attached to Chromatin." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **25**(5): 1056-63.
- BRASH, DE (1988). "Uv Mutagenic Photoproducts in Escherichia Coli and Human Cells: A Molecular Genetics Perspective on Human Skin Cancer." <u>Photochem Photobiol</u> 48(1): 59-66.
- BRAVO, R and CELIS, JE (1980). "A Search for Differential Polypeptide Synthesis Throughout the Cell Cycle of Hela Cells." J Cell Biol **84**(3): 795-802.
- BRAVO, R and MACDONALD-BRAVO, H (1987). "Existence of Two Populations of Cyclin/Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen During the Cell Cycle: Association with DNA Replication Sites." J Cell Biol 105(4): 1549-54.
- BRULS, WA, SLAPER, H, et al. (1984). "Transmission of Human Epidermis and Stratum Corneum as a Function of Thickness in the Ultraviolet and Visible Wavelengths." <u>Photochem Photobiol</u> 40(4): 485-94.
- BULAVIN, DV, KOVALSKY, O, et al. (2003). "Loss of Oncogenic H-Ras-Induced Cell Cycle Arrest and P38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activation by Disruption of Gadd45a." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 23(11): 3859-71.
- CAMPOMENOSI, P and HALL, PA (2000). "Gadd45 Mutations Are Uncommon in Human Tumour Cell Lines." <u>Cell Prolif</u> **33**(5): 301-6.
- CARRIER, F, GEORGEL, PT, et al. (1999). "Gadd45, a P53-Responsive Stress Protein, Modifies DNA Accessibility on Damaged Chromatin." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **19**(3): 1673-85.
- CARRIER, F, SMITH, ML, et al. (1994). "Characterization of Human Gadd45, a P53-Regulated Protein." J Biol Chem 269(51): 32672-7.
- CASAS, S, OLLILA, J, et al. (2003). "Changes in Apoptosis-Related Pathways in Acute Myelocytic Leukemia." <u>Cancer Genet Cytogenet</u> **146**(2): 89-101.

- CAYROL, C and DUCOMMUN, B (1998). "Interaction with Cyclin-Dependent Kinases and Pcna Modulates Proteasome-Dependent Degradation of P21." <u>Oncogene</u> **17**(19): 2437-44.
- CAYROL, C, KNIBIEHLER, M, et al. (1998). "P21 Binding to Pcna Causes G1 and G2 Cell Cycle Arrest in P53-Deficient Cells." <u>Oncogene</u> **16**(3): 311-20.
- CHATURVEDI, V, SITAILO, LA, et al. (2005). "Knockdown of P53 Levels in Human Keratinocytes Accelerates Mcl-1 and Bcl-X(L) Reduction Thereby Enhancing Uv-Light Induced Apoptosis." <u>Oncogene</u> **24**(34): 5299-312.
- CHEN, F, ZHANG, Z, et al. (2001). "Contrasting Roles of Nf-Kappab and Jnk in Arsenite-Induced P53-Independent Expression of Gadd45alpha." <u>Oncogene</u> 20(27): 3585-9.
- CHEN, IT, SMITH, ML, et al. (1995). "Direct Interaction of Gadd45 with Pcna and Evidence for Competitive Interaction of Gadd45 and P21waf1/Cip1 with Pcna." <u>Oncogene</u> **11**(10): 1931-7.
- CHEN, U, CHEN, S, et al. (1996). "P21cip1/Waf1 Disrupts the Recruitment of Human Fen1 by Proliferating-Cell Nuclear Antigen into the DNA Replication Complex." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **93**(21): 11597-602.
- CHOUINARD, N, THERRIEN, JP, et al. (2001). "Repeated Exposures of Human Skin Equivalent to Low Doses of Ultraviolet-B Radiation Lead to Changes in Cellular Functions and Accumulation of Cyclobutane Pyrimidine Dimers." <u>Biochem Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **79**(4): 507-15.
- CHUNG, HK, YI, YW, et al. (2003). "Cr6-Interacting Factor 1 Interacts with Gadd45 Family Proteins and Modulates the Cell Cycle." J Biol Chem **278**(30): 28079-88.
- CLEAVER, JE (1968). "Defective Repair Replication of DNA in Xeroderma Pigmentosum." <u>Nature</u> **218**(142): 652-6.
- CLEAVER, JE, KARPLUS, K, et al. (2001). "Nucleotide Excision Repair "a Legacy of Creativity"." <u>Mutat Res</u> **485**(1): 23-36.
- COOPER, MP, BALAJEE, AS, et al. (1999). "The C-Terminal Domain of P21 Inhibits Nucleotide Excision Repair in Vitro and in Vivo." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **10**(7): 2119-29.
- CRADDOCK, KJ, RAO, J, et al. (2004). "Multiple Keratoacanthomas Arising Post-Uvb Therapy." J Cutan Med Surg 8(4): 239-43.

- CUMMINS, DL, CUMMINS, JM, et al. (2006). "Cutaneous Malignant Melanoma." <u>Mayo</u> <u>Clin Proc</u> 81(4): 500-7.
- DAINO, K, ICHIMURA, S, et al. (2003). "Comprehensive Search for X-Ray-Responsive Elements and Binding Factors in the Regulatory Region of the Gadd45a Gene." J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 44(4): 311-8.
- DE BOER, J and HOEIJMAKERS, JH (2000). "Nucleotide Excision Repair and Human Syndromes." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> **21**(3): 453-60.
- DE SMAELE, E, ZAZZERONI, F, et al. (2001). "Induction of Gadd45beta by Nf-Kappab Downregulates Pro-Apoptotic Jnk Signalling." <u>Nature</u> **414**(6861): 308-13.
- DENG, Y, REN, X, et al. (2003). "A Jnk-Dependent Pathway Is Required for Tnfalpha-Induced Apoptosis." <u>Cell</u> **115**(1): 61-70.
- DONG, C, LI, Q, et al. (2005). "A Novel Apoptosis Pathway Activated by the Carboxyl Terminus of P21." <u>Blood</u> **105**(3): 1187-94.
- DUCOUX, M, URBACH, S, et al. (2001). "Mediation of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (Pcna)-Dependent DNA Replication through a Conserved P21(Cip1)-Like Pcna-Binding Motif Present in the Third Subunit of Human DNA Polymerase Delta." J Biol Chem 276(52): 49258-66.
- ESSERS, J, THEIL, AF, et al. (2005). "Nuclear Dynamics of Pcna in DNA Replication and Repair." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(21): 9350-9.
- FAN, W, JIN, S, et al. (2002). "Brca1 Regulates Gadd45 through Its Interactions with the Oct-1 and Caat Motifs." J Biol Chem 277(10): 8061-7.
- FORNACE, AJ, JR., NEBERT, DW, et al. (1989). "Mammalian Genes Coordinately Regulated by Growth Arrest Signals and DNA-Damaging Agents." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 9(10): 4196-203.
- FRIEDBERG, EC (2001). "How Nucleotide Excision Repair Protects against Cancer." <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Cancer</u> 1(1): 22-33.
- GAO, H, JIN, S, et al. (2005). "B23 Regulates Gadd45a Nuclear Translocation and Contributes to Gadd45a-Induced Cell Cycle G2-M Arrest." J Biol Chem 280(12): 10988-96.
- GARY, R, LUDWIG, DL, et al. (1997). "The DNA Repair Endonuclease Xpg Binds to Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (Pcna) and Shares Sequence Elements with the

Pcna-Binding Regions of Fen-1 and Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor P21." J Biol Chem **272**(39): 24522-9.

- GROSS, DJ and WANER, M (1992). "Biology of Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma." J Am Acad Dermatol 27(5 Pt 1): 789.
- GUPTA, M, GUPTA, SK, et al. (2005). "Hematopoietic Cells from Gadd45a- and Gadd45b-Deficient Mice Are Sensitized to Genotoxic-Stress-Induced Apoptosis." <u>Oncogene</u> **24**(48): 7170-9.
- HALL, PA, KEARSEY, JM, et al. (1995). "Characterisation of the Interaction between Pcna and Gadd45." <u>Oncogene</u> 10(12): 2427-33.
- HARKIN, DP, BEAN, JM, et al. (1999). "Induction of Gadd45 and Jnk/Sapk-Dependent Apoptosis Following Inducible Expression of Brca1." <u>Cell</u> **97**(5): 575-86.
- HARPER, JW, ADAMI, GR, et al. (1993). "The P21 Cdk-Interacting Protein Cip1 Is a Potent Inhibitor of G1 Cyclin-Dependent Kinases." <u>Cell</u> **75**(4): 805-16.
- HILDESHEIM, J, BELOVA, GI, et al. (2004). "Gadd45a Regulates Matrix Metalloproteinases by Suppressing Deltanp63alpha and Beta-Catenin Via P38 Map Kinase and Apc Complex Activation." <u>Oncogene</u> **23**(10): 1829-37.
- HILDESHEIM, J, BULAVIN, DV, et al. (2002). "Gadd45a Protects against Uv Irradiation-Induced Skin Tumors, and Promotes Apoptosis and Stress Signaling Via Mapk and P53." <u>Cancer Res</u> 62(24): 7305-15.
- HILDESHEIM, J and FORNACE, AJ, JR. (2002). "Gadd45a: An Elusive yet Attractive Candidate Gene in Pancreatic Cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> 8(8): 2475-9.
- HILDESHEIM, J, SALVADOR, JM, et al. (2005). "Casein Kinase 2- and Protein Kinase a-Regulated Adenomatous Polyposis Coli and Beta-Catenin Cellular Localization Is Dependent on P38 Mapk." J Biol Chem 280(17): 17221-6.
- HIROSE, T, SOWA, Y, et al. (2003). "P53-Independent Induction of Gadd45 by Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor: Coordinate Regulation by Transcription Factors Oct-1 and Nf-Y." <u>Oncogene</u> 22(49): 7762-73.
- HOLLANDER, MC and FORNACE, AJ, JR. (2002). "Genomic Instability, Centrosome Amplification, Cell Cycle Checkpoints and Gadd45a." <u>Oncogene</u> **21**(40): 6228-33.

- HOLLANDER, MC, KOVALSKY, O, et al. (2001). "Dimethylbenzanthracene Carcinogenesis in Gadd45a-Null Mice Is Associated with Decreased DNA Repair and Increased Mutation Frequency." <u>Cancer Res</u> **61**(6): 2487-91.
- HOLLANDER, MC, PHILBURN, RT, et al. (2005). "Genomic Instability in Gadd45a-/- Cells Is Coupled with S-Phase Checkpoint Defects." <u>Cell Cycle</u> 4(5): 704-9.
- HOLLANDER, MC, SHEIKH, MS, et al. (1999). "Genomic Instability in Gadd45a-Deficient Mice." <u>Nat Genet</u> 23(2): 176-84.
- HUANG, TT, NIJMAN, SM, et al. (2006). "Regulation of Monoubiquitinated Pcna by Dub Autocleavage." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **8**(4): 339-47.
- HUSSEIN, MR (2005). "Ultraviolet Radiation and Skin Cancer: Molecular Mechanisms." J Cutan Pathol **32**(3): 191-205.
- JAVELAUD, D and BESANCON, F (2001). "Nf-Kappa B Activation Results in Rapid Inactivation of Jnk in Tnf Alpha-Treated Ewing Sarcoma Cells: A Mechanism for the Anti-Apoptotic Effect of Nf-Kappa B." <u>Oncogene</u> 20(32): 4365-72.
- JIN, S, ANTINORE, MJ, et al. (2000). "The Gadd45 Inhibition of Cdc2 Kinase Correlates with Gadd45-Mediated Growth Suppression." J Biol Chem 275(22): 16602-8.
- JIN, S, FAN, F, et al. (2001). "Transcription Factors Oct-1 and Nf-Ya Regulate the P53-Independent Induction of the Gadd45 Following DNA Damage." <u>Oncogene</u> 20(21): 2683-90.
- JIN, S, MAZZACURATI, L, et al. (2003). "Gadd45a Contributes to P53 Stabilization in Response to DNA Damage." <u>Oncogene</u> **22**(52): 8536-40.
- JIN, S, TONG, T, et al. (2002). "Gadd45-Induced Cell Cycle G2-M Arrest Associates with Altered Subcellular Distribution of Cyclin B1 and Is Independent of P38 Kinase Activity." <u>Oncogene</u> 21(57): 8696-704.
- JIN, S, ZHAO, H, et al. (2000). "Brca1 Activation of the Gadd45 Promoter." <u>Oncogene</u> 19(35): 4050-7.
- JONSSON, ZO, HINDGES, R, et al. (1998). "Regulation of DNA Replication and Repair Proteins through Interaction with the Front Side of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen." <u>Embo J</u> 17(8): 2412-25.
- JONSSON, ZO and HUBSCHER, U (1997). "Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen: More Than a Clamp for DNA Polymerases." <u>Bioessays</u> **19**(11): 967-75.

- KARMAKAR, P, BALAJEE, AS, et al. (2001). "Analysis of Repair and Pcna Complex Formation Induced by Ionizing Radiation in Human Fibroblast Cell Lines." <u>Mutagenesis</u> 16(3): 225-32.
- KAZANTSEV, A, MU, D, et al. (1996). "Functional Complementation of Xeroderma Pigmentosum Complementation Group E by Replication Protein a in an in Vitro System." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 93(10): 5014-8.
- KEENEY, S, CHANG, GJ, et al. (1993). "Characterization of a Human DNA Damage Binding Protein Implicated in Xeroderma Pigmentosum E." J Biol Chem 268(28): 21293-300.
- KELMAN, Z (1997). "Pcna: Structure, Functions and Interactions." <u>Oncogene</u> 14(6): 629-40.
- KETTENHOFEN, R, HOPPE, J, et al. (2001). "Regulation of Gadd45a Mrna Expression in Vascular Smooth Muscle under Growth and Stress Conditions." <u>Cell Signal</u> 13(11): 787-99.
- KHLIMANKOV, DY, RECHKUNOVA, NI, et al. (2004). "Eucaryotic DNA Replication Complex: Study of Structure and Function Using the Affinity Modification Technique." <u>Biochemistry (Mosc)</u> 69(3): 248-61.
- KIRKPATRICK, DS, WELDON, SF, et al. (2005). "Proteomic Identification of Ubiquitinated Proteins from Human Cells Expressing His-Tagged Ubiquitin." <u>Proteomics</u> 5(8): 2104-11.
- KOVALSKY, O, LUNG, FD, et al. (2001). "Oligomerization of Human Gadd45a Protein." J Biol Chem 276(42): 39330-9.
- KRAEMER, KH, DE WEERD-KASTELEIN, EA, et al. (1975). "Five Complementation Groups in Xeroderma Pigmentosum." <u>Mutat Res</u> **33**(2-3): 327-40.
- KRISHNA, TS, KONG, XP, et al. (1994). "Crystal Structure of the Eukaryotic DNA Polymerase Processivity Factor Pcna." <u>Cell</u> **79**(7): 1233-43.
- KVAM, E and TYRRELL, RM (1997). "Induction of Oxidative DNA Base Damage in Human Skin Cells by Uv and near Visible Radiation." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> 18(12): 2379-84.
- LEHMANN, AR (1995). "Nucleotide Excision Repair and the Link with Transcription." <u>Trends Biochem Sci</u> 20(10): 402-5.

- LEUNG, CH, LAM, W, et al. (2001). "Pkcdelta-Dependent Deubiquitination and Stabilization of Gadd45 in A431 Cells Overexposed to Egf." <u>Biochem Biophys</u> <u>Res Commun</u> **285**(2): 283-8.
- LI, R, HANNON, GJ, et al. (1996). "Subcellular Distribution of P21 and Pcna in Normal and Repair-Deficient Cells Following DNA Damage." <u>Curr Biol</u> **6**(2): 189-99.
- LI, R, WAGA, S, et al. (1994). "Differential Effects by the P21 Cdk Inhibitor on Pcna-Dependent DNA Replication and Repair." <u>Nature</u> **371**(6497): 534-7.
- LOOR, G, ZHANG, SJ, et al. (1997). "Identification of DNA Replication and Cell Cycle Proteins That Interact with Pcna." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **25**(24): 5041-6.
- MAEDA, T, CHONG, MT, et al. (2002). "Role of P21(Waf-1) in Regulating the G1 and G2/M Checkpoints in Ultraviolet-Irradiated Keratinocytes." J Invest Dermatol 119(2): 513-21.
- MAEDA, T, ESPINO, RA, et al. (2005). "Loss of P21waf1/Cip1 in Gadd45-Deficient Keratinocytes Restores DNA Repair Capacity." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> 26(10): 1804-10.
- MAEDA, T, HANNA, AN, et al. (2002). "Gadd45 Regulates G2/M Arrest, DNA Repair, and Cell Death in Keratinocytes Following Ultraviolet Exposure." <u>J Invest</u> <u>Dermatol</u> **119**(1): 22-6.
- MAEDA, T, HAO, C, et al. (2001). "Ultraviolet Light (Uv) Regulation of the Tnf Family Decoy Receptors Dcr2 and Dcr3 in Human Keratinocytes." J Cutan Med Surg 5(4): 294-8.
- MAEDA, T, SIM, AB, et al. (2003). "Uv Induces Gadd45 in a P53-Dependent and -Independent Manner in Human Keratinocytes." J Cutan Med Surg 7(2): 119-23.
- MAGA, G, BLANCA, G, et al. (2004). "The Human DNA Polymerase Lambda Interacts with Pcna through a Domain Important for DNA Primer Binding and the Interaction Is Inhibited by P21/Waf1/Cip1." Faseb J 18(14): 1743-5.
- MATSUMURA, Y and ANANTHASWAMY, HN (2002). "Short-Term and Long-Term Cellular and Molecular Events Following Uv Irradiation of Skin: Implications for Molecular Medicine." <u>Expert Rev Mol Med</u> **2002**: 1-22.
- MELNIKOVA, VO and ANANTHASWAMY, HN (2005). "Cellular and Molecular Events Leading to the Development of Skin Cancer." <u>Mutat Res</u> 571(1-2): 91-106.

- MITA, H, TSUTSUI, J, et al. (2002). "Regulation of Mtk1/Mekk4 Kinase Activity by Its N-Terminal Autoinhibitory Domain and Gadd45 Binding." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **22**(13): 4544-55.
- MITCHELL, DL, JEN, J, et al. (1992). "Sequence Specificity of Cyclobutane Pyrimidine Dimers in DNA Treated with Solar (Ultraviolet B) Radiation." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **20**(2): 225-9.
- MIURA, M (1999). "Detection of Chromatin-Bound Pena in Mammalian Cells and Its Use to Study DNA Excision Repair." J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 40(1): 1-12.
- MIYACHI, K, FRITZLER, MJ, et al. (1978). "Autoantibody to a Nuclear Antigen in Proliferating Cells." J Immunol 121(6): 2228-34.
- MOLLER, R, REYMANN, F, et al. (1979). "Metastases in Dermatological Patients with Squamous Cell Carcinoma." <u>Arch Dermatol</u> **115**(6): 703-5.
- MULLAN, PB, QUINN, JE, et al. (2001). "Brca1 and Gadd45 Mediated G2/M Cell Cycle Arrest in Response to Antimicrotubule Agents." <u>Oncogene</u> **20**(43): 6123-31.
- NAPIERALSKI, R, OTT, K, et al. (2005). "Combined Gadd45a and Thymidine Phosphorylase Expression Levels Predict Response and Survival of Neoadjuvant-Treated Gastric Cancer Patients." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> 11(8): 3025-31.
- NARYZHNY, SN and LEE, H (2004). "The Post-Translational Modifications of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen: Acetylation, Not Phosphorylation, Plays an Important Role in the Regulation of Its Function." J Biol Chem 279(19): 20194-9.
- NICHOLS, AF and SANCAR, A (1992). "Purification of Pena as a Nucleotide Excision Repair Protein." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 20(13): 2441-6.
- OHTANI-FUJITA, N, MINAMI, S, et al. (1998). "P53-Independent Activation of the Gadd45 Promoter by Delta12-Prostaglandin J2." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **251**(2): 648-52.
- OKU, T, IKEDA, S, et al. (1998). "Functional Sites of Human Pcna Which Interact with P21 (Cip1/Waf1), DNA Polymerase Delta and Replication Factor C." <u>Genes Cells</u> **3**(6): 357-69.
- PAN, ZQ, REARDON, JT, et al. (1995). "Inhibition of Nucleotide Excision Repair by the Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor P21." J Biol Chem 270(37): 22008-16.
- PAPA, S, ZAZZERONI, F, et al. (2004). "Linking Jnk Signaling to Nf-Kappab: A Key to Survival." J Cell Sci 117(Pt 22): 5197-208.

- PAPOULI, E, CHEN, S, et al. (2005). "Crosstalk between Sumo and Ubiquitin on Pcna Is Mediated by Recruitment of the Helicase Srs2p." Mol Cell **19**(1): 123-33.
- PARRISH, JA, JAENICKE, KF, et al. (1982). "Erythema and Melanogenesis Action Spectra of Normal Human Skin." Photochem Photobiol **36**(2): 187-91.
- PAUNESKU, T, MITTAL, S, et al. (2001). "Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (Pcna): Ringmaster of the Genome." Int J Radiat Biol 77(10): 1007-21.
- PFEIFER, GP, YOU, YH, et al. (2005). "Mutations Induced by Ultraviolet Light." <u>Mutat</u> <u>Res</u> 571(1-2): 19-31.
- PIASKOWSKI, S, RIESKE, P, et al. (2005). "Gadd45a and Epb41 as Tumor Suppressor Genes in Meningioma Pathogenesis." <u>Cancer Genet Cytogenet</u> **162**(1): 63-7.
- PODUST, VN, PODUST, LM, et al. (1995). "Mechanism of Inhibition of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen-Dependent DNA Synthesis by the Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor P21." <u>Biochemistry</u> 34(27): 8869-75.
- PROSPERI, E, SCOVASSI, AI, et al. (1994). "Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Bound to DNA Synthesis Sites: Phosphorylation and Association with Cyclin D1 and Cyclin A." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> 215(2): 257-62.
- PROSPERI, E, STIVALA, LA, et al. (1993). "Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Complex Formation Induced by Ultraviolet Irradiation in Human Quiescent Fibroblasts as Detected by Immunostaining and Flow Cytometry." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> 205(2): 320-5.
- RELIENE, R and SCHIESTL, RH (2003). "Mouse Models for Induced Genetic Instability at Endogenous Loci." Oncogene 22(45): 7000-10.
- RIEDL, T, HANAOKA, F, et al. (2003). "The Comings and Goings of Nucleotide Excision Repair Factors on Damaged DNA." <u>Embo J</u> 22(19): 5293-303.
- RIVA, F, SAVIO, M, et al. (2004). "Distinct Pools of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Associated to DNA Replication Sites Interact with the P125 Subunit of DNA Polymerase Delta or DNA Ligase I." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **293**(2): 357-67.
- ROBERTS, JA, BELL, SD, et al. (2003). "An Archaeal Xpf Repair Endonuclease Dependent on a Heterotrimeric Pcna." <u>Mol Microbiol</u> **48**(2): 361-71.
- SAGE, E (1993). "Distribution and Repair of Photolesions in DNA: Genetic Consequences and the Role of Sequence Context." <u>Photochem Photobiol</u> 57(1): 163-74.

- SALVADOR, JM, HOLLANDER, MC, et al. (2002). "Mice Lacking the P53-Effector Gene Gadd45a Develop a Lupus-Like Syndrome." Immunity 16(4): 499-508.
- SALVADOR, JM, MITTELSTADT, PR, et al. (2005). "The Autoimmune Suppressor Gadd45alpha Inhibits the T Cell Alternative P38 Activation Pathway." <u>Nat</u> <u>Immunol</u> 6(4): 396-402.
- SAVIO, M, STIVALA, LA, et al. (1996). "P21waf1/Cip1 Protein Associates with the Detergent-Insoluble Form of Pcna Concomitantly with Disassembly of Pcna at Nucleotide Excision Repair Sites." <u>Oncogene</u> 13(8): 1591-8.
- SCHNEIDER-STOCK, R, DIAB-ASSEF, M, et al. (2005). "5-Aza-Cytidine Is a Potent Inhibitor of DNA Methyltransferase 3a and Induces Apoptosis in Hct-116 Colon Cancer Cells Via Gadd45- and P53-Dependent Mechanisms." J Pharmacol Exp <u>Ther</u> 312(2): 525-36.
- SCHNEIDER, G, WEBER, A, et al. (2006). "Gadd45alpha Is Highly Expressed in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Cells and Required for Tumor Cell Viability." <u>Int J</u> <u>Cancer</u> 118(10): 2405-11.
- SCOTT, DW, MUTAMBA, S, et al. (2005). "Increased Gadd Gene Expression in Human Colon Epithelial Cells Exposed to Deoxycholate." J Cell Physiol **202**(1): 295-303.
- SCOTT, M, BONNEFIN, P, et al. (2001). "Uv-Induced Binding of Ing1 to Pcna Regulates the Induction of Apoptosis." J Cell Sci 114(Pt 19): 3455-62.
- SENSI, E, TANCREDI, M, et al. (2004). "Clinicopathological Significance of Gadd45 Gene Alterations in Human Familial Breast Carcinoma." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> 87(2): 197-201.
- SHAROVA, NP (2005). "How Does a Cell Repair Damaged DNA?" <u>Biochemistry (Mosc)</u> **70**(3): 275-91.
- SHEIKH, MS, HOLLANDER, MC, et al. (2000). "Role of Gadd45 in Apoptosis." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Pharmacol</u> **59**(1): 43-5.
- SHIVJI, KK, KENNY, MK, et al. (1992). "Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Is Required for DNA Excision Repair." <u>Cell</u> **69**(2): 367-74.
- SHIVJI, MK, FERRARI, E, et al. (1998). "Resistance of Human Nucleotide Excision Repair Synthesis in Vitro to P21cdn1." <u>Oncogene</u> 17(22): 2827-38.

- SHIVJI, MK, GREY, SJ, et al. (1994). "Cip1 Inhibits DNA Replication but Not Pena-Dependent Nucleotide Excision-Repair." <u>Curr Biol</u> 4(12): 1062-8.
- SHIVЛ, MK, PODUST, VN, et al. (1995). "Nucleotide Excision Repair DNA Synthesis by DNA Polymerase Epsilon in the Presence of Pcna, Rfc, and Rpa." <u>Biochemistry</u> **34**(15): 5011-7.
- SMITH, ML, CHEN, IT, et al. (1994). "Interaction of the P53-Regulated Protein Gadd45 with Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen." <u>Science</u> **266**(5189): 1376-80.
- SMITH, ML, FORD, JM, et al. (2000). "P53-Mediated DNA Repair Responses to Uv Radiation: Studies of Mouse Cells Lacking P53, P21, and/or Gadd45 Genes." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> 20(10): 3705-14.
- SMITH, ML and SEO, YR (2002). "P53 Regulation of DNA Excision Repair Pathways." <u>Mutagenesis</u> 17(2): 149-56.
- SOEHNGE, H, OUHTIT, A, et al. (1997). "Mechanisms of Induction of Skin Cancer by Uv Radiation." <u>Front Biosci</u> 2: d538-51.
- SOLOMON, DA, CARDOSO, MC, et al. (2004). "Dynamic Targeting of the Replication Machinery to Sites of DNA Damage." J Cell Biol 166(4): 455-63.
- SORIA, G, PODHAJCER, O, et al. (2006). "P21(Cip1/Waf1) Downregulation Is Required for Efficient Pcna Ubiquitination after Uv Irradiation." <u>Oncogene</u>.
- STIVALA, LA and PROSPERI, E (2004). "Analysis of P21cdkn1a Recruitment to DNA Excision Repair Foci in the Uv-Induced DNA Damage Response." <u>Methods Mol</u> <u>Biol</u> 281: 73-89.
- STIVALA, LA, RIVA, F, et al. (2001). "P21(Waf1/Cip1)-Null Human Fibroblasts Are Deficient in Nucleotide Excision Repair Downstream the Recruitment of Pcna to DNA Repair Sites." <u>Oncogene</u> 20(5): 563-70.
- STRATTON, SP, DORR, RT, et al. (2000). "The State-of-the-Art in Chemoprevention of Skin Cancer." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> **36**(10): 1292-7.
- STRICKLAND, PT (1986). "Photocarcinogenesis by near-Ultraviolet (Uva) Radiation in Sencar Mice." J Invest Dermatol 87(2): 272-5.
- SUGASAWA, K, NG, JM, et al. (1998). "Xeroderma Pigmentosum Group C Protein Complex Is the Initiator of Global Genome Nucleotide Excision Repair." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell</u> 2(2): 223-32.
- SZUTS, D, CHRISTOV, C, et al. (2005). "Distinct Populations of Human Pcna Are Required for Initiation of Chromosomal DNA Replication and Concurrent DNA Repair." <u>Exp Cell Res</u>.
- TAKAHASHI, S, SAITO, S, et al. (2001). "Involvement of the Oct-1 Regulatory Element of the Gadd45 Promoter in the P53-Independent Response to Ultraviolet Irradiation." <u>Cancer Res</u> 61(3): 1187-95.
- TAKEKAWA, M and SAITO, H (1998). "A Family of Stress-Inducible Gadd45-Like Proteins Mediate Activation of the Stress-Responsive Mtk1/Mekk4 Mapkkk." <u>Cell</u> **95**(4): 521-30.
- TANG, G, MINEMOTO, Y, et al. (2001). "Inhibition of Jnk Activation through Nf-Kappab Target Genes." <u>Nature</u> **414**(6861): 313-7.
- TANNOCK, IF, HILL, RICHARD P., Ed. (1998). <u>The Basic Science of Oncology</u>. New York, McGraw-Hill.
- TANTIN, D (1998). "Rna Polymerase Ii Elongation Complexes Containing the Cockayne Syndrome Group B Protein Interact with a Molecular Complex Containing the Transcription Factor Iih Components Xeroderma Pigmentosum B and P62." J <u>Biol Chem</u> 273(43): 27794-9.
- TANTIN, D, KANSAL, A, et al. (1997). "Recruitment of the Putative Transcription-Repair Coupling Factor Csb/Ercc6 to Rna Polymerase Ii Elongation Complexes." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> 17(12): 6803-14.
- TIJSTERMAN, M and BROUWER, J (1999). "Rad26, the Yeast Homolog of the Cockayne Syndrome B Gene Product, Counteracts Inhibition of DNA Repair Due to Rna Polymerase Ii Transcription." J Biol Chem **274**(3): 1199-202.
- TONG, T, FAN, W, et al. (2001). "Involvement of the Map Kinase Pathways in Induction of Gadd45 Following Uv Radiation." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **269**(1): 64-72.
- TONG, T, JI, J, et al. (2005). "Gadd45a Expression Induces Bim Dissociation from the Cytoskeleton and Translocation to Mitochondria." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 25(11): 4488-500.
- TRAN, H, BRUNET, A, et al. (2002). "DNA Repair Pathway Stimulated by the Forkhead Transcription Factor Foxo3a through the Gadd45 Protein." <u>Science</u> 296(5567): 530-4.
- TRON, VA, LI, G, et al. (1999). "Ultraviolet Radiation-Induced P53 Responses in the Epidermis Are Differentiation-Dependent." J Cutan Med Surg 3(5): 280-3.

- UMAR, A, BUERMEYER, AB, et al. (1996). "Requirement for Pcna in DNA Mismatch Repair at a Step Preceding DNA Resynthesis." <u>Cell</u> **87**(1): 65-73.
- VAIRAPANDI, M, AZAM, N, et al. (2000). "Characterization of Myd118, Gadd45, and Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (Pcna) Interacting Domains. Pcna Impedes Myd118 and Gadd45-Mediated Negative Growth Control." J Biol Chem 275(22): 16810-9.
- VAN HOFFEN, A, BALAJEE, AS, et al. (2003). "Nucleotide Excision Repair and Its Interplay with Transcription." <u>Toxicology</u> **193**(1-2): 79-90.
- VAN HOFFEN, A, VENEMA, J, et al. (1995). "Transcription-Coupled Repair Removes Both Cyclobutane Pyrimidine Dimers and 6-4 Photoproducts with Equal Efficiency and in a Sequential Way from Transcribed DNA in Xeroderma Pigmentosum Group C Fibroblasts." <u>Embo J</u> 14(2): 360-7.
- WAGA, S, HANNON, GJ, et al. (1994). "The P21 Inhibitor of Cyclin-Dependent Kinases Controls DNA Replication by Interaction with Pcna." <u>Nature</u> **369**(6481): 574-8.
- WAGA, S and STILLMAN, B (1998). "Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor P21 Modulates the DNA Primer-Template Recognition Complex." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 18(7): 4177-87.
- WANG, W, HUPER, G, et al. (2005). "Analysis of Methylation-Sensitive Transcriptome Identifies Gadd45a as a Frequently Methylated Gene in Breast Cancer." Oncogene **24**(16): 2705-14.
- WANG, X, GOROSPE, M, et al. (1999). "Gadd45 Is Not Required for Activation of C-Jun N-Terminal Kinase or P38 During Acute Stress." J Biol Chem 274(42): 29599-602.
- WANG, X, WANG, RH, et al. (2004). "Genetic Interactions between Brca1 and Gadd45a in Centrosome Duplication, Genetic Stability, and Neural Tube Closure." J Biol <u>Chem</u> 279(28): 29606-14.
- WANG, XW, ZHAN, Q, et al. (1999). "Gadd45 Induction of a G2/M Cell Cycle Checkpoint." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(7): 3706-11.
- WANG, Y, YU, Q, et al. (2005). "Survey of Differentially Methylated Promoters in Prostate Cancer Cell Lines." <u>Neoplasia</u> 7(8): 748-60.
- WARBRICK, E (2000). "The Puzzle of Pena's Many Partners." <u>Bioessays</u> 22(11): 997-1006.

- WASHINGTION, UO, Department of Pathology (2006). www.pathology.washington.edu/about/education/gallery/skin.php.
- WILSON, GD, CAMPLEJOHN, RS, et al. (1992). "Flow Cytometric Characterisation of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Using the Monoclonal Antibody Pc10." <u>Eur J</u> <u>Cancer</u> 28A(12): 2010-7.
- WOOD, RD (1999). "DNA Damage Recognition During Nucleotide Excision Repair in Mammalian Cells." <u>Biochimie</u> 81(1-2): 39-44.
- XIAO, G, CHICAS, A, et al. (2000). "A DNA Damage Signal Is Required for P53 to Activate Gadd45." <u>Cancer Res</u> 60(6): 1711-9.
- YAKOVLEVA, T, KOLESNIKOVA, L, et al. (2004). "Yy1 Binding to a Subset of P53 DNA-Target Sites Regulates P53-Dependent Transcription." <u>Biochem Biophys Res</u> <u>Commun</u> **318**(2): 615-24.
- YAMASAWA, K, NIO, Y, et al. (2002). "Clinicopathological Significance of Abnormalities in Gadd45 Expression and Its Relationship to P53 in Human Pancreatic Cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **8**(8): 2563-9.
- ZERBINI, LF, WANG, Y, et al. (2004). "Nf-Kappa B-Mediated Repression of Growth Arrest- and DNA-Damage-Inducible Proteins 45alpha and Gamma Is Essential for Cancer Cell Survival." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(37): 13618-23.
- ZHAN, Q, ANTINORE, MJ, et al. (1999). "Association with Cdc2 and Inhibition of Cdc2/Cyclin B1 Kinase Activity by the P53-Regulated Protein Gadd45." <u>Oncogene</u> 18(18): 2892-900.
- ZHAN, Q, CHEN, IT, et al. (1998). "Tumor Suppressor P53 Can Participate in Transcriptional Induction of the Gadd45 Promoter in the Absence of Direct DNA Binding." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 18(5): 2768-78.
- ZHAO, H, JIN, S, et al. (2000). "The Central Region of Gadd45 Is Required for Its Interaction with P21/Waf1." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **258**(1): 92-100.
- ZHENG, X, ZHANG, Y, et al. (2005). "Inhibition of Nf-Kappab Stabilizes Gadd45alpha Mrna." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **329**(1): 95-9.
- ZHOU, BB and ELLEDGE, SJ (2000). "The DNA Damage Response: Putting Checkpoints in Perspective." <u>Nature</u> **408**(6811): 433-9.
- ZIEGLER, A, JONASON, AS, et al. (1994). "Sunburn and P53 in the Onset of Skin Cancer." Nature 372(6508): 773-6.

ZIGMAN, S, FOWLER, E, et al. (1976). "Black Light Induction of Skin Tumors in Mice." J Invest Dermatol 67(6): 723-5.